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Financial Highlights 

in thousands, except per share information
IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

Previous GAAP
2009

Revenue $71,966 $69,909 $67,196 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA)

$9,848 $9,718 $10,915 

Net earnings before taxes $4,113 $1,795 $3,333 

Net earnings $2,844 $733 $2,734 

Total assets $104,740 $105,626 $113,548 

Shareholders equity $44,632 $42,589 $46,173 

Earnings per common share $0.21 $0.05 $0.20 

Shareholders equity per share $3.35 $3.19 $3.46 

Weighted average common shares  13,337,448  13,337,448  13,337,448 

Revenue

Revenue Breakdown
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2011 was action packed, on and off the ice.  During the course of the year, we steadily grew our revenue, expanded 
U.S. operations, increased our cash position, continued to decrease total interest bearing debt, established a 
quarterly dividend policy and made strategic decisions regarding facilities nearing the end of their useful lives 
and in challenging situations.

Demand for our products and services such as contract ice/field rentals, adult hockey leagues, instructional 
programs and youth hockey leagues remained strong in 2011 in most of our markets.  This led to revenue for the 
year of $72.0 million, an increase of 3% over last year.   We achieved the largest annual and quarterly revenue in 
our history during 2011.  With the continued success of the Company and stable earnings, our Board decided the 
time was right to reward shareholders by establishing a quarterly dividend policy which paid a total of $0.06 per 
share on an annual basis in 2011.
  
We made the strategic decision to sell our twin pad facility located in Regina due to changes in the competitive 
landscape that included the addition of six new surfaces.  This sale allowed us to realize a $2.3 million gain on 
the sale of one or our older assets and redeploy the proceeds to purchase a state-of-the-art three pad facility 
in Romeoville, Illinois,  an attractive and growing suburb just West of Chicago.  Establishing a U.S. hub in the 
Chicago area has always been a part of our U.S. growth plan.  Our latest move has given us the presence we need 
to gain further credibility and increase Canlan’s exposure in this strategically important U.S. state, which has one 
of the highest hockey populations in the Country.

In 2008 we signed a 5-year lease agreement for our twin pad facility in Candiac, Quebec with the City of Candiac, 
the major tenant at the time.  The agreement provided the City with an option to purchase the facility.  A 
change in market conditions precipitated the exercise of this option and we executed the sale at the end of 2011 
providing us with additional cash to take advantage of the many opportunities currently being pursued.  By the 
end of 2011 we had increased our cash balance to $13.9 million and reduced our total interest bearing debt by 
$3.6 million.

During the year we signed a five year strategic relationship deal with Hockey Canada, further validating the 
success of our Adult Safe Hockey Network (ASHN) and Adult Safe Hockey League (ASHL).  Through this agreement 
we adopted their insurance and benefit program which will allow us to further improve the services that we offer 
our ASHL and ASHN members.  We also increased our ASHN membership as through this deal we will now oversee 
the entire adult membership including that of Hockey Canada.  This move allows us to expand our relationship 
with provincial hockey branches across the county and access new markets and players.  Membership revenues 
will grow as we collectively work to increase participation in adult hockey and the number of tournament and 
championship events will increase to meet the needs of this growing membership.

Canlan is on a solid footing with many exciting projects underway.  Our core products and services are continually 
being improved and our people development program remains a major focus as we aim to expand into new sports 
and into new markets to grow the business.

On behalf of the senior management team, I wish to thank all Canlan team members for their passion and 
commitment, and our investors for believing in the Canlan model.    Stay tuned as we anticipate many more 
success stories on the way.

Joey St-Aubin
President & CEO

in thousands, except per share information
IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

Previous GAAP
2009

Revenue $71,966 $69,909 $67,196 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA)

$9,848 $9,718 $10,915 

Net earnings before taxes $4,113 $1,795 $3,333 

Net earnings $2,844 $733 $2,734 

Total assets $104,740 $105,626 $113,548 

Shareholders equity $44,632 $42,589 $46,173 

Earnings per common share $0.21 $0.05 $0.20 

Shareholders equity per share $3.35 $3.19 $3.46 

Weighted average common shares  13,337,448  13,337,448  13,337,448 

Joey St-Aubin, Chief Executive Officer



STRENGHT
The Adult Safe Hockey League (“ASHL”) is a professionally managed recre-
ational hockey League. The ASHL offers a safe and competitive environment 
to a wide variety of age divisions and skills levels. The ASHL has grown to 
over 70,000 active players and is North America’s largest recreational league. 

The Hockey and Skating Academies operate throughout the year and have a 
variety of weekly classes for both youth and adults. Our instructors are profes-
sionally trained which gives each participant an opportunity to excel. 

Themed Multi-Sports Camps offer each camper the unique opportunity to 
learn new sports and activities.  Our professional instruction provides an ex-
cellent opportunity for children to develop sporting abilities and learn to 
work as part of a team toward a common goal. 

Our 3 on 3 hockey league improves overall skill development and game strat-
egy by challenging players both offensively and defensively. In 2011 we had 
11,000 players registered in five different age categories. 

Canlan Classic Tournaments (“CCT”) hosts over 50 tournament events for 
hockey players of all skills and ages. CCT is now considered one of the best 
choices in North America for value and experience in the hockey tournament 
circuit for boys, girls, men, women and co-ed. 

The Adult Indoor Soccer League (“AISL”) delivers fun and fair competition to 
its members across North America.  With state of the art indoor soccer pitches, 
we are committed to ensuring that the AISL provides a safe and challenging 
level of recreational competition for men and women of all soccer backgrounds. 

on

Our Strengths 



STRENGHTCanlan Ice Sports will be the recognized leader 
in North America in the development, operations 
and ownership of multi-purpose recreation and 
entertainment facilities.

We will provide highly desirable products and services 
in clean, safe, fun and friendly facilities, aiming 
to exceed the diverse recreational needs of sports 
enthusiasts of all ages, gender and ethnicity within 
the markets that we serve.

We will be the brand of choice to our customers 
because of our excellent operations & service, the 
employer of choice to our team members because of 
the importance we place on them, and a model of 
integrity for suppliers, partners, and the communities 
we support because we fulfill our commitments.

Success will be measured by loyalty, retention, service, 
carbon footprint, profitability and shareholder value. 

Our Mission



8 Canlan Ice Sports Corp. 2011 Annual Report

Canlan Ice Sports 8-Rinks, 8-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports North Shore, 3-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Langley Twin Rinks, 2-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports South Cariboo Rec. Centre, 1-Rink Complex
Armstrong / Spallumcheen Sports Centre, 1-Rink Complex

River Cree Ice Sports Complex (Edmonton), 2-Rink Complex

Canlan Ice Sports Jemini (Saskatoon), 4-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Agriplace (Saskatoon), 2-Rink Complex

Canlan Ice Sports Winnipeg, 4-Rink Complex

Canlan Ice Sports Oakville, 4-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Etobicoke, 4-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Scarborough, 4-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports York, 6-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Oshawa, 2-Rink Complex
Canlan Ice Sports Victoria Park, 2-Rink Complex

BRITISH COLUMBIA

ALBERTA

SASKATCHEWAN

MANITOBA

ONTARIO

QUEBEC

INDIANA

ILLINOIS

NEW JERSEY

Canlan Ice Sports Les 4 Glaces (Brossard), 4-Rink Complex

 

Lutheran Health Sports Center, 3-Rink Complex
McMillen Ice Arena, 1-Rink Complex

Canlan Ice Sports Romeoville, 3-Rink Complex

Canlan Ice Sports Vineland, 2-Rink Complex
 

Our Locations



LOCA-
TIONS

Mark Faubert, Senior VP, 
Operations
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Our Locations
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The following management discussion and analysis (MD&A) summarizes 
significant factors affecting the consolidated operating results and 
financial condition of Canlan Ice Sports Corp. (“Canlan”, “the Company”, 
“we” “our” or “us”) for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. This 
document should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated 
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and 
accompanying notes. The results reported herein have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and 
are presented in Canadian dollars. Contained in the discussion we also 
disclose financial results dating from before our transition to IFRS. These 
are identified by the title Previous GAAP.

In the following discussion, we define EBITDA as earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization.  In addition, the term free cash 
flow is used, which we calculate as cash flow from operations less capital 
expenditures minus any proceeds from the disposition of capital assets. 
However, EBITDA and free cash flow are not terms that have specific mean-
ing in accordance with IFRS, and may be calculated differently by other 
companies.  The Company discloses EBITDA and free cash flow because 
these are useful indicators of operating performance and liquidity.

Additional information relating to our Company, including quarterly 
reports and our annual information form, is filed on SEDAR and can be 
viewed at www.sedar.com and our website www.icesports.com.

The date of this MD&A is March 22, 2012.

Forward Looking Statements
Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute ‘’forward looking’’ state-
ments which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements 
of the Company to be materially different from any future results, per-
formance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking 
statements. When used in this MD&A, such statements may use such words 
as ‘’may’’, ‘’will’’, ‘’expect’’, ‘’believe’’, ‘’plan’’ and other similar terminology. 
These statements reflect management’s current expectations regarding 
future events and operating performance and speak only as of the date of 
this MD&A. These forward looking statements involve a number of risks 
and uncertainties. Some of the factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those expressed in or underlying such forward 
looking statements are the effects of, as well as changes in: interna-
tional, national and local business and economic conditions; political or 

economic instability in the Company’s markets; competition; legislation 
and governmental regulation; and accounting policies and practices. The 
foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. Except as required by law, the 
Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements.
 

Overall Performance
2011 Highlights:

•	 Gross revenue of $72.0 million increased by $2.1 million or 2.9% 
compared to 2010.

•	 We recorded EBITDA of $9.8 million compared to $9.7 million a year 
ago. 

•	 As a result of the following two asset sales, net earnings before tax 
rose to $4.1 million compared to $1.8 million a year ago.
•	 Completed the sale of a 2-pad facility in Regina, Saskatchewan 

in September 2011 for $3.6 million and recognized a gain on sale 
of $2.3 million.

•	 Completed the sale of a 2-pad facility in Candiac, Quebec in 
December 2011 for $4.6 million and recognized a gain on sale of 
$0.3 million.

•	 Purchased an ice rink facility in Romeoville, Illinois in June 2011 for 
USD$3.8 million.  A combination of available cash on hand and U.S. 
bank financing was utilized to make the acquisition.  The 106,000 
square foot facility contains three ice pads, concession, and a pro-
shop. The facility is named Ice Sports Romeoville and is home to a 
large youth hockey organization.

•	 Quarterly dividend payments of $0.015 per common share were made 
in each of January, April, July and October.

•	 Reduced interest bearing debt by $3.6 million.
•	 Refinanced 40% of our Canadian term debt, and established an acqui-

sition credit facility.
•	 Cash on hand at year end increased to $13.9 million compared to $8.9 

million at the end of 2010.
•	 Completed transition of financial reporting from previous GAAP to 

IFRS.
•	 Two new members were elected to the Board of Directors while one 

long-serving Director retired during the year.

Michael Gellard, Chief Financial Officer
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Business of the Company
Canlan Ice Sports Corp. is a leading operator of recreational and leisure 
facilities. 
The Company’s first venture into the ice rink industry was in 1986, when 
it acquired a facility known as Columbia 4 Rinks located in Burnaby B.C. 
This facility was expanded in 1995 to an eight-rink facility, which is now 
known as Burnaby 8 Rinks. The Company’s head office is located in the 
Burnaby facility and it maintains a second corporate office at its Ice Sports 
York location in Toronto, Ontario. We currently have approximately 910 full 
time and part time employees working in our facilities and two corporate 
offices.

As at the date of this MD&A the Company owns, leases or manages a 
network of 20 facilities in Canada and the United States containing 62 full 
sized ice sheets and two indoor soccer fields. Other recreation amenities 
connected to Canlan’s facilities include curling rinks, beach volleyball 
courts, and softball diamonds. The Company owns 10 of these facilities 
containing 1.1 million square feet of space; we operate two facilities under 
long-term land lease arrangements and a further four facilities under oper-
ating leases. In addition, we manage four facilities on behalf of third party 
owners from both the private and public sectors.

Our total facility count, including all owned, leased and managed proper-
ties, is as follows:

Number of Facilities Surfaces

2011 20 62

2010 21 63

2009 22 65

2008 22 65

2007 22 64

A more detailed summary of the locations of our facilities is as follows:

 
 

Number of
playing 
surfaces

 
Operating structure

Canada:

British Columbia

Burnaby 8 Rinks 8 Owned

Ice Sports  North Shore 3 Long term land lease

Ice Sports Langley Twin Rinks 2 Operating lease

South Cariboo Recreation Center - 
100 Mile House

1 Managed

Armstrong/Spallumcheen Parks & 
Recreation

1 Managed

Alberta - River Cree Twin Rinks - 
Edmonton

2 Managed

Saskatchewan

Ice Sports Jemini - Saskatoon 4 Owned

Ice Sports Agriplace - Saskatoon 2 Owned

Manitoba - Ice Sports Winnipeg 4 Owned

Ontario

Ice Sports Scarborough 4 Owned

Ice Sports Etobicoke 4 Owned

Ice Sports Oakville 4 Owned

Ice Sports Oshawa 2 Owned

Ice Sports York 6 Long term land lease

Ice Sports Victoria Park 2 Operating lease

Quebec

Les Quatre Glaces - Brossard 4 Owned

53

USA:

Illinois - Ice Sports Romeoville 3 Owned

Indiana

Ice Sports Fort Wayne 3 Operating lease

McMillen Arena - Fort Wayne 1 Managed

New Jersey - Ice Sports Vineland 2 Operating lease

 9  

 62  
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About Canlan
Canlan is a publicly traded Canadian Company with shares listed on the To-
ronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the trading symbol ICE. Canlan’s shares 
were first listed for trading on the TSX on March 1, 1990.

There are 13,337,448 shares outstanding that have traded in the $1.70 to 
$2.00 range since December 31, 2011. The Company has not issued any 
shares since November 2004. 

The Company derives revenue from six primary categories: 

1. Rental and programming
•	 Revenue from ice and field rentals (together called “ice rentals” or 

“ice sales”), and internal programming.

2. Food and beverage
•	 Sales from our licensed restaurants and concession operations 

inside our facilities.

3. Sports stores
•	 Sales and rental of sports equipment and apparel, and skate sharp-

ening services.

4. Tournaments
•	 Registrations in youth and adult tournaments organized by our 

Tournament Division.

5. Management and consulting 
•	 Fees from managing facilities owned by third parties and consulting 

engagements completed by our Partnership Solutions Division.

6. Other
•	 Includes sponsorship revenue, revenue from rental of space inside 

our facilities, and revenue from vending machines.

 
Five year Revenue and EBITDA trend:

 Vision, Core Business and Strategy
Canlan will strive to be:

“A high performance industry leader, passionately committed to 
providing exceptional customer experiences, every time.”

The Company’s goal is to leverage its leadership position in the North 
American ice rink industry by continuing to focus on both organic growth 
and expansion through acquisition and long term lease.   While our largest 
single market segment is adult recreational hockey leagues, we are focused 
on increasing utilization in other important segments including skating 
and hockey schools, soccer programs, specialty sports leagues and camps, 
and hockey tournaments.  By providing quality products and services in 
clean, safe facilities, we still have capacity to grow our existing revenue 
base by providing value added services to our customers.  At the same 
time, we actively seek opportunities to expand our revenue base through 
acquisition, partnership solutions with third parties, or leasing facili-
ties.  Expansion objectives are to achieve a high return on investment and 
penetrate strategic markets.

We have developed six critical success factors supported by specific project 
initiatives that help the organization reach our goals:

1) Sales and Marketing - Cutting edge marketing that maximizes brand 
awareness, revenue and customer loyalty.

2) Customer Experience – Exceptional service delivered by well-trained 
and motivated staff, which results in consistently great experiences.

3) New Ventures & Innovation - Proactively seek out new opportuni-
ties that drive revenue and income growth.

4) Operational Excellence – Highly efficient and effective facility op-
erations using industry–leading technology, streamlined process and 
consistent best practices.

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Revenue $71,966 $69,909 $67,196 $64,669 $62,539 

Facility operating costs  (57,847)  (55,627)  (52,142)  (49,768)  (48,856)

 14,119  14,282  15,054  14,901  13,683 

G&A  (4,271)  (4,564)  (4,139)  (3,665)  (3,526)

EBITDA $9,848 $9,718 $10,915 $11,236 $10,157 
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5) People & Leadership – Strong leadership and highly dedicated 
people accountable for delivering outstanding customer experiences 
and business results.

6) Culture – High energy action-oriented culture that has a strong 
foundation in team-work, pride, respect and accountability.

Since developing the strategic plan, many of the initiatives connected 
with these critical success factors are in progress and some have returned 
tangible benefits such as the ones related to operational excellence where 
we have seen reductions in energy consumption through changes in tech-
nology and best practices.
 

The Marketplace and Our Competition
Canlan’s current marketplace is recreation, and we understand that we 
compete for market share with other sports and activities, some of which 
have lower participation costs. Our largest customer segment is adult 
hockey players. This segment of our business represents 46% of our total 
revenue from rentals and programming, or $24.5 million. It also represents 
34% of total revenue. 

Canlan’s largest competition is from municipalities and private league 
operators.  Local governments cater primarily to their constituents who 
are usually made up of minor hockey and other amateur user groups. There 
are many private league operators in Canada that purchase ice time from 
local rinks and run adult leagues. Unless an oversupply situation exists in 
a jurisdiction, we do not believe that competition from municipalities and 
local league operators will be significant enough to impede our growth. 
Canlan has various competitive advantages, one of which is that we control 
the ice inventory in our facilities, enabling us to schedule ice times ef-
ficiently and provide quality ice times where deemed most appropriate.  In 
addition, our facilities are generally full-service ice sports & entertainment 
centers where we incorporate retail and food & beverage services into the 
customers’ experience.

Competitive Strengths
The Company believes that it has the following competitive strengths:

Our Employees. Canlan currently has 910 full and part time dedicated 
employees in Canada and the USA. Through training and internal commu-
nications, we have established Canlan as the place to work in our industry 
and we attract the most talented people in the industry. Our employees are 
focused on providing quality customer service and a safe environment.

Adult Safe Hockey League (ASHL). The Company operates the largest 
and most established adult hockey league in North America. The ASHL of-
fers superior services and fair competition in a fun environment.  It oper-

ates year-round and has over 70,000 players registered in various divisions 
based on skill and age. 

Geographic coverage. Canlan currently owns and operates facilities in six 
provinces in Canada and three U.S. states giving us broad geographic cov-
erage. Our geographic diversity and wide customer base help to mitigate 
the effects of economic cycles.

Executive team. Canlan’s executive team is comprised of nine individu-
als who are members of the management committee. This group plans and 
monitors operations in all departments, sets policies, as well as continu-
ally assesses future growth strategies. These individuals have extensive 
expertise in operations, sales, marketing, customer service, finance & 
accounting and human resources.

Barriers to entry in the market.  While publically funded ice rink proj-
ects will exist from time to time, the relatively high cost of construction 
will likely make privately funded ice rink projects less viable, reducing the 
competitive risk.

Buying Power. As a result of being geographically diversified, and hav-
ing significant product volumes in a number of categories, we are able to 
negotiate national supply agreements for preferred pricing.
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Selected Financial Information
The following selected consolidated financial information as at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and each of the years then ended has been derived 
from our audited consolidated financial statements. This data should be read together with those financial statements.  Note that 2011 and 2010 con-
solidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS (2009 – Previous GAAP), and all information is stated in Canadian dollars.

IFRS
Quarter ended December 31

IFRS
Year ended

Previous

GAAP

in thousands 2011 2010 2011 2010 2009

Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue  $20,345  $19,991  $71,966  $69,909  $67,196 

Direct expenses (1)  (14,890)  (14,066)  (57,847)  (55,627)  (52,142)

General & administration

  expenses  (1,014)  (1,319)  (4,271)  (4,564)  (4,139)

EBITDA  4,441  4,606  9,848  9,718  10,915 

Other expenses:

Depreciation  (1,273)  (1,275)  (5,150)  (4,986)  (4,467)

Finance (costs) income  (802)  (690)  (2,867)  (3,015)  (3,542)

Gain on sale of assets  258  -    2,578  35  32 

Other  (368)  33  (296)  43  395 

Taxes  (376)  (1,218)  (1,269)  (1,062)  (599)

Net Earnings  $1,880  $1,456  $2,844  $733  $2,734 

Basic and fully diluted  

  earnings per share  $0.14  $0.11  $0.21  $0.05  $0.20 

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash  $13,886  $8,903  $9,213 

Working capital (excluding cash)  3,398  3,016  3,365 

Capital assets  84,967  89,854  96,778 

Other assets  2,489  3,853  4,192 

Total assets  $104,740  $105,626  $113,548 

Current liabilities, excluding debt  $17,593  $16,893  $17,947 

Mortgage debt  40,899  44,022  46,595 

Equipment leases  1,073  1,455  1,446 

Deferred tax liabilities  543  667  1,387 

Total liabilities  60,108  63,037  67,375 

Shareholders's equity  44,632  42,589  46,173 

 $104,740  $105,626  $113,548 

Dividends declared per common share  $0.06  $0.015  - 

(1) Direct expenses include all operating costs related to the operation of our facilities.
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Review of Fiscal 2011 Operations
Revenue

Total revenue increased by $2.1 million or 2.9% to $72.0 million compared 
to $69.9 million in 2010. 

Approximately 74% or $53.4 million (2010 - $51.3 million) of the Company’s 
total revenue is generated from third-party ice rentals and in-house pro-
gramming.  In-house programming accounts for approximately 73% of this 
revenue source and gives us a distinct advantage over third-party rentals 
because it enables us to manage ice and field inventory based on demand, 
which results in increased margins. Canlan’s largest internal program is the 
Adult Safe Hockey League.

The Adult Safe Hockey League

The Adult Safe Hockey League (“ASHL”) operates in two seasons: 1) the 
fall/winter season from September to April and; 2) the spring/summer 
season from May to August. 

In 2011, the ASHL generated $24.5 million in total registration revenue 
which represents 46% of our total ice sales (2010 - $24.2 million, 47% of 
ice sales). ASHL revenue increased by 0.9% in 2011. The relatively small 
increase was mainly due to the sale of Ice Sports Regina in September 
2011. ASHL revenue for this facility from September to December usually 
totals approximately $400,000.  The addition of Ice Sports Romeoville in 
June 2011 helped offset a small part of this decrease but ASHL volume 
in this facility is not as robust as Regina.  For the ASHL 2011/2012 fall/
winter season, there was a net decrease of 71 teams playing in our adult 
recreational league because of the sale.  The growth of registrations in the 
ASHL has generally slowed down compared to historical experience due to 
increased competition from other league and rink operators and from other 
recreational activities.  Management’s focus is to continuously enhance 
the experience of players that participate in the ASHL, whether it be 
the registration process, game play, playoff formats, or post-game social 
networking.  This is critical to maintain our position as leaders in the adult 
recreation hockey market.

In 2011 we saw our spring/summer league grow by 47 teams over 2010. 
Twenty-one of these new teams came from our Oshawa, Ontario location 
where some players had previously gone to competing leagues but began 
to return in 2011.

The ASHL is a full service adult recreational league for both men and 
women with a variety of divisions based on age and/or skill level. Ser-
vices provided include scheduling, officiating, on-line statistics, accident 
insurance, prizing and various levels of championship play including our 
coveted North American Championship. The league is an integral part of 
our business and generated 34% of the Company’s total revenue in 2011, 
compared to 35% in 2010.

We have over 70,000 adult hockey players registered in our winter and a 
summer leagues combined.  

The Youth Hockey League and 3 on 3

In addition to the ASHL, Canlan also operates a variety of youth leagues 
in the spring and summer seasons. These leagues are designed for minor 
hockey aged players who wish to continue playing after the regular fall/
winter season ends. We offer both the traditional “5 on 5” formats through 
the Youth Hockey League, as well as a “3 on 3” league for those players 
looking for more speed in the game.  

In the US locations, our facilities are associated with minor hockey 
organizations in their local communities and revenues are earned from a 
combination of ice rentals to minor hockey associations, and registration 
fees for youth hockey teams and programs that we operate internally.

In 2011 youth hockey leagues generated $3.3 million in gross revenue, 
which is 6% of our total ice sales (2010 - $3.0 million and 6%).  The year 
over year increase is mainly due to increased registrations in the 3-on-3 
league and  additional minor hockey revenue from the new Romeoville 
facility and at Fort Wayne. 

Camp Canlan, Hockey and Skating Academies

Canlan offers a variety of developmental programs through our branded 
Camp Canlan and Hockey and Skating Academies. Camp Canlan operates 
primarily in the summer months and is directed at the youth market, with 
a focus on hockey skills development and fun activity in various other 
sports. 

Hockey and Skating Academies for adult and youth operate throughout the 
year and weekly classes are held to teach everything from learning to skate 
to power skating and team tactics.  The growth opportunities of these pro-
grams are concentrated in the summer season when ice and field inventory 
is available and the youth population is generally not in school.

In 2011 we had 28,100 participants (2010 – 23,800) in these programs and 
generated $4.9 million in gross revenue, which represents 9% of our total 
ice sales (2010 - $4.6 million and 9%).  

Contract ice rentals

After providing the necessary allocation of ice times to operate our in-
house programs, we rent ice to third parties. Contract users are required 
to sign seasonal contracts for the fall/winter and spring/summer seasons 
and are charged a fixed hourly rate. The ice time is used by private groups, 
minor hockey associations, third party tournaments and camp operators 
as well as some adult leagues. Overall, third party contracts accounted for 
$14.2 million or 27% of our total ice sales in 2011 compared to $13.1 mil-
lion or 26% of total ice sales in 2010. 
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Soccer

Canlan operates two indoor soccer facilities, one in Burnaby built in 2000, and a second field in Winnipeg, built in 
2006. Our approach to increasing the utilization of these synthetic turf fields is similar to how we approach the 
ASHL. We have developed successful indoor soccer leagues at both locations that consume all evening times. The 
Adult Indoor Soccer League (“AISL”) has over 5,000 players registered in both locations and the league operates 
in two separate seasons during the year, with a similar business plan to the ASHL.  In 2011, we also introduced a 
Satellite soccer league in Oshawa where third-party field time was rented to operate a Canlan-branded indoor league 
in the summer.  In addition, at our Winnipeg facility, we introduced an outdoor soccer league in the summer that 
was played on an outdoor pitch that was rented from a third party.  Although revenue from these new leagues was 
not significant in 2011, these new streams of soccer revenue are expected to complement our strategy in this growth 
area in the near future.

We generated $1.2 million in total revenue from soccer in 2011, compared to $1.1 million 2010. 

Revenue generated from activity on our ice rinks and soccer fields:

Food & Beverage

Revenue from our 15 restaurant and concession operations was $11.6 
million in 2011, compared to $11.8 million 2010. The sale of Ice Sports 
Regina in September 2012, and a decrease in food & beverage sales in the 
Greater Vancouver market are the main contributing factors to the overall 
decrease.  Ice Sports Romeoville operates a small concession so revenue 
from this facility was not sufficient to offset the fall/winter restaurant 
sales that Ice Sports Regina would have normally generated.  Consistent 
with industry experience in the Greater Vancouver marketplace, restaurant 
sales declined mainly due to reduced liquor sales.  Food and beverage sales 
accounted for 16% of total revenue, 1% lower than in 2010. 

We operate all our restaurants in-house to ensure our customers receive 
quality products and service. The product mix between food sales and 
liquor sales has shifted this year to 62% and 38% respectively, compared 
to 57% and 43% in the previous year. 

Sports Stores

During the year, Canlan operated nine sports stores that sell equipment, 
apparel, and skate sharpening services in our buildings. The Company rents 
to third party store operators under long term leases in another five facili-
ties. Our sports stores generated $2.0 million in gross sales, consistent 
with prior year. Sports store revenue represents 2.8% of total revenue. 
Skate sharpening revenue was $0.5 million, unchanged from 2010. 

Management Contracts

Management services revenue is comprised of fees for managing ice rink 
facilities on behalf of owners and one-time consulting engagements. Our 
management services division generated management fee revenue in 2011 
totaling $0.2 million, compared to $0.3 million in 2010. Currently we have 
four active management contracts.

2011 2010

in thousands Revenue % of total Revenue % of total

Adult hockey leagues $24,465  46 $24,248  47 

3rd party contract users  14,244  27  13,128  26 

Hockey & skating schools  4,869  9  4,601  9 

Public programs & spot rentals  3,189  6  3,116  6 

Youth hockey leagues  3,319  6  3,044  6 

Soccer field rentals and leagues  1,219  2  1,122  2 

Figure skating  858  2  859  2 

In house tournaments  494  1  482  1 

Other  727  1  743  1 

$53,384  100 $51,343  100 
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Tournament Operations

Canlan’s Tournament Division is focused on growing our in-house tournament business in the seasonally slow summer 
months, thereby reducing our reliance on third party tournament operators. This division continues to grow, and in 
2011 held 59 tournaments (2010 – 51 tournaments) and generated $2.0 million in total revenue, compared to $1.8 
million in 2010. While the majority of the CCT events are held in Canlan facilities, which increase our own ice and 
retail utilization, the division is diversifying and holds a number of tournaments outside our buildings, including 
Niagara Falls and Las Vegas. 

Other revenue

Other sources of revenue totaled $2.6 million in 2011 compared to $2.8 million in 2010. In many facilities, we rent 
space to complimentary types of businesses. We also include revenue from leasing out the entire facility located in 
Candiac, Quebec, before we sold the property in December 2011.  In 2011 we recorded $1.0 million in facility and 
space rental revenue which is similar to 2010. 

 
Another significant component of other revenue is sponsorship.  In 2011 we generated $1.0 million in sponsorship 
revenue which is consistent with 2010.

Revenue by business segment and geographic region:

2011 2010

in thousands Sales % of total Sales % of total

Ice Sales $53,384  74 $51,343  73 

Restaurant and Lounge  11,604  16  11,797  17 

Sports Store  2,020  3  1,960  3 

Tournament Division  2,041  3  1,785  3 

Management Fees & Consulting  226  -  286  - 

Other  2,691  4  2,738  4 

$71,966  100 $69,909  100 

in thousands 2011 2010

Canada: Sales % of total Sales % of total

British Columbia $17,415  24 $17,005  24 

Alberta  141  -  139  - 

Saskatchewan  6,794  9  6,967  10 

Manitoba  3,784  5  3,768  5 

Ontario  34,086  47  33,876  48 

Quebec  5,778  8  5,615  8 

 67,998  94  67,370  96 

USA  3,968  6  2,539  4 

$71,966  100 $69,909  100 
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Revenue by Quarter

The Company recorded the following revenue by quarter in 2011. The revenue stream is seasonal with 56% of the 
Company’s revenue being generated in the fall and winter months (first and fourth quarters) and 44% in the spring 
and summer season (second and third quarters).

2011 2010

in thousands Revenue % of total Revenue % of total

Q1 $20,427 28% $19,844 28%

Q2  16,351 23%  15,866 23%

Q3  14,843 21%  14,208 20%

Q4  20,345 28%  19,991 29%

$71,966 100% $69,909 100%

Direct Operating Costs

Total ice rink operating costs were $57.8 million in 2011 compared to $55.6 million in 2010, an increase of $2.2 mil-
lion or 4.0%.  Labour costs increased by $0.7 million mainly due to annual wage increments in the normal course of 
business.  Labour is our largest expense and represents 46% of our direct operating costs, compared to 47% in 2010. 
We continually monitor labour rates to stay competitive in all markets. Four of our facilities are subject to collective 
agreements with two different unions. 

Repairs and maintenance costs increased by $0.5 million mainly due to roof maintenance costs that were required 
to ensure the roofs of our facilities remain safe and waterproof.  Customer service expenses such as prizing, league 
statistics, camp supplies, etc, and cost of goods sold increased by $0.4 million mainly due to increased marketing 
efforts and start up costs required upon the purchase of Ice Sports Romeoville.  Utility expenses include the cost of 
electricity, gas and water.  Total utility expense of $7.2 million increased by $0.3 million or 4.7%.  After eliminating 
the effects of differences caused by the sale of Ice Sports Regina and the addition of Ice Sports Romeoville, total 
energy consumption decreased on a same-store basis; however, higher utility rates caused mainly by Provincial hydro 
surcharges caused expenses to increase in some markets.

Also included in operating costs are building and land lease payments related to five of our facilities. In 2011, rent 
payments totaled $1.7 million, compared to $1.4 million in 2010; the increase in lease costs of Ice Sports Fort Wayne 
that opened in February 2010.

 
Ice rink operating costs are less seasonal than revenue, as our business does have a fixed cost component to it.

2011 2010

in thousands Costs % of total Costs % of total

Q1  $14,569  25  $14,042  25 

Q2  14,551  25  14,335  26 

Q3  13,837  24  13,184  24 

Q4  14,890  26  14,066  25 

 $57,847  100  $55,627  100 
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Operating Margin before General and Administration expenses

Operating margin is calculated as revenue less operating expenses ex-
pressed as a percentage of revenue. Operating margin for 2011 was 19.6%, 
a slight decrease from 2010 which was 20.4%. The reduction in our operat-
ing margin was primarily a result of lower revenue growth compared to the 
increase in operating costs. As previously discussed, revenue increased by 
2.9% over last year, while our same store operating costs have increased 
by 4.0%.  In addition, revenue growth from our highest margin program, 
the ASHL, was only 0.9% in 2011 due to competition and the sale of Ice 
Sports Regina.

U.S. Facility Operations

While Canlan’s Canadian facility operations are relatively established; our 
current ventures in the US markets in which we operate are comparatively 
new.  In the United States, the Company operates a 2-pad facility in 
Vineland, New Jersey, a 3-pad facility in Fort Wayne, Indiana, and a 3-pad 
facility in Romeoville, Illinois that was just purchased in 2011.   

The facility in Vineland is leased from a third party and operations here 
have not been profitable.  During the year, Ice Sports Vineland incurred a 
net loss of $0.5 million before depreciation (2010 – loss of $0.4 million).  
The demand for ice sports in this market has been weaker than originally 
anticipated and gaining a strong market share of local minor hockey pro-
grams has been much more difficult than planned due to certain regula-
tions unique to the community.  This low demand, plus the lease expense 
of $225,000 per year has resulted in cumulative operating losses of ap-
proximately $2.0 million from 2008 to the end of 2011.  In February 2012, 
Canlan announced that rink operations will cease at Ice Sports Vineland 
after March 31, 2012.  The current fall/winter hockey season will be com-
pleted without interruption and Canlan will fulfill our lease commitment to 
the lessor until the end of the lease term which is December 31, 2012.

In Fort Wayne, Canlan leases a 3-pad ice rink facility under a 20-year 
lease agreement that began in February 2010.  During 2010 and 2011, 
management has built a portfolio of business that encompasses the ASHL, 
instructional programming, minor hockey, a solid base of contract rental 
revenue, and alternative activities such as curling and birthday party 
events.  In addition, several multi-year sponsorship agreements have been 
secured, including a long-term building naming-rights deal that names the 
facility the Lutheran Health Sports Centre (LHSC).  Management is focused 
on continuing to grow the customer base, take advantage of its central 
Indiana location to attract tournament and skate competition traffic, and 
increase operating income sufficient to offset the annual lease expense.  
LHSC’s total revenue of US$2.0 million in 2011 increased by $0.5 million 
or 38.7% compared to $1.4 million in 2010.  Before lease expense, the 
Centre’s income was $0.2 million compared to breakeven a year ago.  The 
lease gives the Company the option to purchase the facility from the lessor 
for USD$9,300,000 anytime during the first five years of the lease, and 
USD$9,800,000 during years six and seven.

In June 2011, Canlan purchased Ice Sports Romeoville, a 3-pad complex 
situated on eight acres of land for USD$3.8 million.  Since purchasing the 
facility, management has completed some renovation projects and imple-
mented a stable of Canlan-branded programs such as the ASHL and skating 
and hockey academies.  In addition, Canlan has continued to work with a 
very well established local minor hockey association that uses Ice Sports 
Romeoville as its home arena.  During the short period from acquisition 
to December 2011, the facility became accretive to overall earnings and 
results have met management’s expectations.

General and Administration Expenses

Corporate G&A expenses of $4.3 million decreased by $0.3 million or 6.4% 
compared to $4.6 million in 2010.  G & A expense represents 5.9% of total 
revenue in 2011, compared to 6.5% in 2010. Wages and related benefits ac-
counted for 70.8% ($3.0 million) of total G&A expenses in 2011 compared 
to 74.8% ($3.4 million) in 2010.

Corporate wages include compensation expense related to the Stock Appre-
ciation Rights (SARs) plan, which was established in 2005 and made avail-
able to the Company’s executives and directors. Compensation expense of 
$85,000 was recognized in 2011 related to the SARs program, compared to 
$0.2 million in 2010.

The decrease in G&A costs is mainly due to a reduction of salaries and 
wages that resulted from some one-time severance and post-retirement 
accruals that were necessary in 2010.

Other expenses included in G&A are as follows:
•	 Professional and regulatory fees
•	 Director fees
•	 Travel
•	 Office 
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Administration expenses are generally consistent throughout the year.

2011 2010

in thousands Expense % of total Expense % of total

Q1 $1,177  28 $1,027  23 

Q2  1,076  25  1,066  23 

Q3  1,004  24  1,152  25 

Q4  1,014  24  1,319  29 

$4,271  100 $4,564  100 

EBITDA

After accounting for ice rink operating costs of $57.8 million (2010 - $55.6 million) and G&A expenses of $4.3 mil-
lion (2010: $4.6 million), EBITDA increased by $0.1 million to $9.8 million, an increase of 1.3%.

The Company recorded the following EBITDA by quarter in 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

in thousands EBITDA % of total EBITDA % of total

Q1 $4,681  48 $4,775  49 

Q2  724  7  465  5 

Q3  2  -  (128)  (1)

Q4  4,441  45  4,606  47 

$9,848  100 $9,718  100 

$0.0 

$5.0 
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The Company generates the vast majority of its operating profit during 
the fall and winter seasons (first and fourth quarters) that produce 56% 
(2010 - 57%) of our total revenue. This seasonality contributes to quarterly 
variability of our earnings because a significant portion of our operating 
costs are relatively fixed.  
 
This trend is illustrated as follows:

Gross Margin 

Gross margin is calculated as revenue less operating and G&A expenses, 
expressed as a percentage of revenue. Gross margin for 2011 was 13.7% 
compared to 13.9% in 2010.

 

Non-operating Expenses
Depreciation

Depreciation expense of $5.2 million in 2011 increased by $0.2 million due 
to the addition of the Romeoville property and other capital asset addi-
tions in existing facilities.
 
The Company’s amortization policy was unchanged during the year other 
than the additional two components of property, plant and equipment as a 
result of transition to IFRS.  The policy calls for straight-line amortization 
of ice rink assets over periods ranging from five years to forty years. 
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Gain on sale of assets

During the year, we sold two ice rink properties, Ice Sports Regina, Sas-
katchewan and Les Deux Glaces in Candiac, Quebec.

Ice Sports Regina was sold for $3.6 million in September 2011.  Due to 
over capacity in the Regina marketplace, management decided to exit the 
market.  Proceeds from the sale were redeployed towards a combination of 
debt reduction and equity contribution towards Ice Sports Romeoville.  An 
accounting gain of $2.3 million was recorded from the sale.

Les Deux Glaces was sold for $4.6 million in December 2011.  This facil-
ity had been leased to the City of Candiac since 2008 and pursuant to the 
lease agreement, the lessee had an option to purchase the facility by the 
end of the lease term which was to be December 31, 2012.  The City of Can-
diac exercised its option in December 2011 and the proceeds of disposition 
were partially used to reduce debt and the remainder will be maintained 
for future expansion opportunities in strategic markets.  An accounting 
gain of $0.3 million was recorded from the sale.

Valuation Adjustment on Investment Property

The Company owns a one-half interest in a plot of vacant land in Fort 
Worth, Texas.  Due to current real estate market conditions in the area, the 
carrying amount of the property was written down by $0.2 million.  The 
carrying amount of this property at December 31, 2011 was $0.3 million.

 
Finance Income and Costs

Finance income and costs consist of interest income earned on cash on 
hand, unrealized gains related to the fair value adjustment of an interest 
rate swap contract, interest expense on mortgage debt and finance leases, 
and amortization of deferred financing costs.  The interest rate swap con-
tract is a derivative instrument used to fix the interest rate on $8.9 million 
of mortgage debt that would otherwise be accruing interest at variable 
rates.  The financial instrument has not been designated as a hedge for ac-
counting purposes; therefore, the resulting gain or loss from the change in 
fair value of the instrument is recognized in the statement of earnings and 
comprehensive income.

Net finance costs of $2.9 million decreased by $0.1 million or 4.9% from 
2010 as a result of debt reduction and lower interest rates. 

A breakdown of our net finance cost is as follows:

in thousands 2011 2010

  
Mortgage interest, net of interest 
income $2,775 $3,156 

Equipment lease interest  102  105 
Unrealized gain on financial 
instrument  (113)  (342)

Amortization of deferred financing 
costs and other  103  96 

 $2,867  3,015 

At year end, the Company had interest bearing, mortgage secured debt 
totaling $41.2 million (2010 – $44.4 million). 

The Company has fixed the interest rate on 83% of its mortgage debt, or 
$34.4 million at a weighted average rate of 6.11%. Debt with variable in-
terest rates consists of $4.3 million at the Prime rate plus 1.25% and $2.5 
million at the LIBOR plus 2.5%. 

Costs related to debt financing are amortized using the effective interest 
rate method in accordance with IFRS and classified as interest expense. In 
2011 this amounted to $0.1 million, same as 2010.

Net Earnings before Income Taxes
Net earnings before income taxes were $4.1 million in 2011 compared to 
$1.8 million in 2010; an increase of $2.3 million. 

 
Taxes 

Each year, management reviews assumptions regarding deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities to ensure that the reported balances appropriately 
reflect tax benefits available to offset future income taxes and future 
reversal of those benefits.  As a result of utilizing tax benefits related to 
tax loss carry forwards, capital cost allowance, cumulative eligible capital 
and deferred revenue deductions, there is no current income tax payable 
for the 2011 fiscal year.

After fiscal 2011, the Company will have utilized virtually all tax benefits 
associated with non-capital losses carried forward related to Canadian op-
erations.  However, we anticipate that capital cost allowance and deferred 
revenue deductions will still be available to offset taxable income in 2012.  
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Because US operations have incurred losses during the past several years, there are non-capital losses from rink 
operations of approximately $4.6 million carried forward that are available to offset future taxable income in the 
United States; however, this has not been recognized as tax benefits in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion at December 31, 2011 because we have not yet developed a reasonably predictable pattern of profitability in US 
operations.  

As at December 31, 2011, net deferred income tax asset amounted to $1.5 million compared to $2.7 million at the 
end of 2010 and deferred tax expense of $1.3 million (2010 - $1.1 million) was recognized in the statement of earn-
ings and comprehensive income.

The sale of Ice Sports Regina as discussed above resulted in a taxable capital gain; however, the Company had capi-
tal losses carried forward that offset this taxable gain.

Net Earnings

Net earnings after tax for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $2.8 million or $0.21 per share, compared to net 
earnings of $0.7 million in 2010 or $0.05 per share. 
 

Summary of Operations
For the years ended December 31

IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

Previous GAAP
2009in thousands

Revenue

     Ice rinks  $71,966  $69,909  $67,196 

Expenses

     Ice rinks  57,847  55,627  52,142 

Earnings from operations  14,119  14,282  15,054 

General & administration  4,271  4,564  4,139 

EBITDA  9,848  9,718  10,915 

Other expenses (income)

     Depreciation  5,150  4,986  4,467 

     Gain on sale of assets  (2,578)  (35)  -   

     Loss on held for trading liability  -    -    (365)

     Other  296  (43)  (62)

 2,868  4,908  4,040 

Finance costs (income)

     Finance costs  3,021  3,356  3,542 

     Finance income  (154)  (341)  -   

 2,867  3,015  3,542 

Net  earnings before taxes  4,113  1,795  3,333 

Deferred income tax expense  1,269  1,062  599 

Net earnings  $2,844  $733  $2,734 
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2011
in thousands Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Gross revenue  $20,427  $16,351  $14,843  $20,345  $71,966 

Operating costs  (14,569)  (14,551)  (13,837)  (14,890)  $(57,847)
 5,858  1,800  1,006  5,455  14,119 

General & administration  (1,177)  (1,076)  (1,004)  (1,014)  $(4,271)

EBITDA  4,681  724  2  4,441  9,848 

  Depreciation  (1,281)  (1,285)  (1,311)  (1,273)  $(5,150)
  Finance costs  (691)  (683)  (691)  (802)  $(2,867)
  Other  (5)  29  2,368  (110)  $2,282 
Net earnings (loss)
  before taxes and other  2,704  (1,215)  368  2,256  4,113 

Income taxes  (872)  230  (251)  (376)  $(1,269)

Net earnings (loss)  $1,832  $(985)  $117  $1,880  $2,844 

Earnings  (loss) per share  $0.14  $(0.07)  $0.01  $0.14  $0.21 

2010
in thousands Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
Gross revenue  $19,844  $15,866  $14,208  $19,991  $69,909 
Operating costs  (14,042)  (14,335)  (13,184)  (14,066)  $(55,627)

 5,802  1,531  1,024  5,925  14,282 
General & administration  (1,027)  (1,066)  (1,152)  (1,319)  $(4,564)

EBITDA  4,775  465  (128)  4,606  9,718 

  Depreciation  (1,242)  (1,215)  (1,254)  (1,275)  $(4,986)
  Finance costs  (666)  (927)  (732)  (690)  $(3,015)
  Other  (4)  25  24  33  $78 
Net earnings (loss)
  before taxes and other  2,863  (1,652)  (2,090)  2,674  1,795 

Income taxes  (825)  421  560  (1,218)  $(1,062)

Net earnings (loss)  $2,038  $(1,231)  $(1,530)  $1,456  $733 

Earnings  (loss) per share  $0.15  $(0.09)  $(0.11)  $0.11  $0.05 

Since 56% of our revenue is generated in the winter months while operating costs are relatively fixed, quarterly 
earnings fluctuate significantly during the year. The Company reported EBITDA of $9.1 million in Q1 and Q4 com-
bined, compared to just $0.7 million in Q2 and Q3.  In terms of net earnings, the Company has generally reported 
net losses in the spring and summer months except for Q3 of 2011 due to the gain on sale of Ice Sports Regina.

Summary of Quarterly Results

The following tables present our unaudited consolidated quarterly results of operations for each of the last eight 
fiscal quarters. This data has been derived from our unaudited quarterly consolidated financial statements which are 
prepared on the same basis as our annual audited financial statements.



Management Discussion & Analysis

24 Canlan Ice Sports Corp. 2011 Annual Report

Review of Fourth Quarter 2011
In Q4, the Company generated its highest fourth quarter revenue in history, 
a total of $20.3 million.  This represents an increase of 1.8% compared to 
$20.0 million in 2010. 

There are currently 2,532 teams registered across Canada and the USA for 
the 2011/12 ASHL winter season, compared to 2,603 registered for the prior 
year. The ASHL represents 46% of our total ice sales, and continues to be 
our largest earnings contributor for during the first and fourth quarters. 

Operating earnings before G&A expenses was $5.5 million during Q4 com-
pared to $6.0 million in 2010.   The decrease was mainly due to approxi-
mately $0.5 million of roof maintenance costs that were incurred during the 
quarter.

After recording G&A expenses of $1.0 million (2010 - $1.3 million), EBITDA 
for was $4.4 million compared to $4.6 million in 2010.

After recording finance costs, depreciation, and gains and losses related 
to financial instruments and investment properties totaling $2.2 million, 
net earnings before taxes was $2.3 million compared to $2.7 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2010.

After adjusting for income taxes, net earnings were $1.9 million or $0.14 per 
share, compared to $1.5 million or $0.11 per share in 2010.  A summary of 
Q4 results is as follows:

in thousands 2011 2010

Gross revenue  $20,345  $19,991 

Operating costs  (14,890)  (14,066)

 5,455  5,925 

General & administration  (1,014)  (1,319)

EBITDA  4,441  4,606 

  Depreciation  (1,273)  (1,275)

  Finance costs  (802)  (690)

  Other  (110)  33 

Net earnings before taxes 
and other  2,256  2,674 

Income taxes  (376)  (1,218)

Net earnings  $1,880  $1,456 

Earnings per share  $0.14  $0.11 

Review of Assets
The total book value of the Company’s assets as at December 31, 2011 was 
$104.7 million compared to $105.6 million at December 31, 2010.

 The table below summarizes the Company’s asset base:

in thousands 2011 2010

Ice rink properties  $84,303  $84,600 

Cash  13,886  8,903 

Accounts receivable  1,717  1,519 

Inventory  1,121  1,041 

Prepaid expenses and other 
assets  1,024  895 

Investment properties  664  5,254 

Deferred tax assets  2,025  3,414 

 $104,740  $105,626 

Property, plant and equipment makes up 81% of our total asset base and 
is comprised of land, building and equipment. During the year, other than 
the purchase of Ice Sports Romeoville, $1.5 million in capital expenditures 
were incurred to renovate and improve our ice rink facilities using cash on 
hand. 

The decrease in investment properties is related to the sale of the facil-
ity in Candiac, Quebec, which was presented as an investment property 
because Canlan earned purely rental income from this property.  

The increase of cash on hand at the end of 2011 compared to 2010 is also 
principally due to the sale of the Candiac facility.

Management estimates that annual capital expenditures required will be 
approximately $2.0 million as part of our long term capital plan. 
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Review of Liabilities and Shareholders’ 
Equity
The table below summarizes the Company’s capital structure:

in thousands 2011 2010

Mortgages payable $40,899 $44,022 

Deferred revenue and 
customer deposits  11,495  11,022 

Accounts payable  5,984  5,644 

Capital leases  1,073  1,455 

Deferred tax liabilities  543  667 

Financial liability held for 
trading  114  227 

 60,108  63,037 

Shareholders' equity  44,632  42,589 

$104,740 $105,626 

Shareholders’ equity per 
common share $3.35 $3.19 

Total interest-bearing debt, which includes mortgages payable and capital 
leases totaled $42.0 million as at December 31, 2011, compared to $45.5 
million at the end of fiscal 2010, a net decrease of $3.5 million.  For 
financial statement presentation, our long-term debt is recorded net of 
related transaction costs, pursuant to the effective interest rate method 
of accounting for deferred financing costs.
 
Mortgages

At December 31, 2011, total loans consist of four credit facilities, and have 
a combined annual debt service of $5.4 million. Our annual principal reduc-
tion based on scheduled mortgage repayments will be $3.1 million in 2012.

Specific terms of the four credit facilities are as follows:

•	 $30 million loan maturing July 15, 2018, fixed interest rate of 6.79% 
per annum, amortized over 20 years with interest payable monthly and 
seasonal principal payments of $375,000 per month from September 
15 to December 15 annually. At December 31, 2011, the balance out-
standing was $25.5 million.

•	 $9.0 million loan maturing September 30, 2014, variable interest rate 
of Prime plus 1.25%, amortized over 15 years with blended monthly 
payments. The Company has entered into an interest rate swap agree-
ment to fix the interest rate on the principal borrowed at a rate of 
4.15% per annum.  At December 31, 2011, the balance outstanding 
was $8.9 million.

•	 $5.4 million loan maturing September 30, 2014, variable interest rate 
of Prime plus 1.25%, amortized over 12 years with blended monthly 
payments. The Prime rate is currently 3%.  At December 31, 2011, the 
balance outstanding was $4.3 million.

•	 $2.6 million loan maturing October 31, 2016, variable interest rate of 
LIBOR plus 2.5%, amortized over 15 years with blended monthly pay-
ments.  The LIBOR rate is currently 0.24%.  At December 31, 2011, the 
balance outstanding was $2.5 million.

In addition, the Bank also provided a $5.0 million revolving loan that the 
Company can use as bridge financing for potential future property acquisi-
tions.  

We are in full compliance with all our debt covenants as at December 31, 
2011 and we expect to continue to be in compliance during the coming 
fiscal year.

Customer Deposits and Deferred Revenue

The largest single component of our current liabilities is comprised of 
deferred revenue related to league registrations and customer deposits 
received in advance which  totaled $11.5 million as at December 31, 2011 
(2010 - $11.0 million).  We recognize revenue as the ice is used; many of 
the seasonal contracts and league registrations are paid in advance.

Finance Leases

We use finance leases to finance the acquisition of various types of heavy 
equipment used in our facilities such as ice resurfacers and refrigeration 
equipment.   In 2011 we acquired two new ice resurfacers with finance 
leases that have a term of five years. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Canlan’s cash balance as at December 31, 2011 was $13.9 million compared 
to $8.9 million from December 31, 2010. The increase at year end was prin-
cipally due to the proceeds of sale received from the sale of the property 
in Candiac, Quebec.

During the year, net proceeds from asset sales were $8.0 million.  We uti-
lized $3.0 million of this amount to make balloon repayments on mortgage 
debt and another $1.1 million as equity for the purchase of Ice Sports 
Romeoville.  Along with the balloon repayments, scheduled mortgage 
principal repayments of $2.7 million were also made during the year.  The 
Company also borrowed $2.6 million to partially finance the purchase of 
the Romeoville facility.  On a net basis, mortgage debt was reduced by 
$3.2 million.

A total of $4.0 million was spent to purchase and renovate Ice Sports 
Romeoville while another $1.5 million was spent on other capital expendi-
tures.
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On December 6, 2010 the Company announced the introduction of a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.015 per 
common share. The first dividend was paid on January 17, 2011 to shareholders and then paid every three months 
thereafter in accordance with our dividend policy. A total of $0.8 million of dividends were paid out on a quarterly 
basis in January, April, July and October of 2011.  The Company expects to continue with this dividend payment 
schedule in 2012.  The initiation of a quarterly dividend reflects our continued confidence in our ability to generate 
strong consistent cash flow while paying down debt.

Summarized statement of cash flows

in thousands 2011 2010

Cash inflows and (outflows) by activity

Operating activities  $7,158  $5,424 

Financing activities  (4,527)  (3,308)

Investing activities  2,352  (2,426)

 4,983  (310)

Cash position, beginning of year  8,903  9,213 

Cash position, end of year  $13,886  $8,903 

Key ratios

Working Capital  $(3,820)  $(24,378)

Debt to equity ratio 0.94:1 1.07:1

Our balance sheet at the end of 2011 indicated a working capital deficiency of $3.8 million.   The significant working 
capital deficiency in 2010 was a result of the reclassification of non-current debt to current debt upon transition to 
IFRS. 

The Company’s debt to equity ratio continues to improve and was below 1:1 at the end of the year. The ratio has 
decreased as a result of scheduled and lump-sum principal repayments of debt, combined with an increase in share-
holders’ equity through net earnings.  This ratio should continue to improve as debt levels decrease and the Company 
remains profitable.

Cash Flow

Our cash position fluctuates during the year as a result of the seasonality of our business.  Historically the highest 
cash position is December and lowest occurs in August. We generally collect registration fees for the ASHL in the 
first three months of each season, and program fees are collected upon registration.

A strong year end cash position, together with seasonal principal payments related to 60% of our debt will benefit 
the Company in the negative cash flow months. We have built sufficient cash reserves to manage the seasonality of 
our business without having to access credit lines and we expect this to continue in the future.

Cash flow from operating activities increased to $7.2 million in 2011 compared to $5.4 million in 2010.   After 
accounting for net debt repayments, capital expenditures, dividends paid, and proceeds on sale of assets, cash 
increased by $5.0 million in 2011. 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of EBITDA to the change in cash position for the last two years:

in thousands 2011 2010

EBITDA  $9,848  $9,718 

Changes in working capital items  406  (1,142)

Net finance costs  (3,010)  (3,169)

Other  (104)  43 

Cash flow from operations  7,140  5,450 

Less:

Mortgage principal reduction, net of new financing  (3,180)  (2,669)

Proceeds from sale of capital assets  8,024 37

Purchase of ice rink property  (4,043)  -   

Capital expenditures  (1,629)  (2,463)

Equipment lease payments  (546)  (639)

Dividends paid  (801)  -   

Effect of changes in foreign currency rates  18  (26)

Change in cash position for the year  $4,983  $(310)

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents the aggregate amount of future cash outflows for contractual obligations in each of the 
next five years and thereafter. The operating leases listed below for land and buildings fit the definition of off –
balance sheet financing arrangements.

in thousands 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt:

  Mortgage principal and interest 5,385 5,280 13,823 3,135 4,657 19,862 52,142

  Equipment leases, includes interest 529 409 227 79 19
                        

- 1,263

5,914 5,689 14,050 3,214 4,676 19,862 53,405

Land and building leases 
(off balance sheet financing) 1,797 1,713 1,717 1,580 1,587 21,268 29,662

$7,711 $7,402 $15,767 $4,794 $6,263 $41,130 $83,067
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Share Capital
No new shares have been issued from treasury since November 2004, and 
the Company does not have a stock option plan.

2011 2010

Shares issued and 
outstanding 13,337,448 13,337,448

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding 13,337,448 13,337,448

The Company established a stock appreciation rights (SARs) plan in 2005. 
The SARs plan provides eligible employees and directors with the right to 
receive cash equal to the appreciation of the Company’s common shares 
subsequent to the date of the grant. The granted SAR’s vest in equal in-
stallments over a three year period and expire three to five years from the 
grant date.

The Company has outstanding stock appreciation rights as follows:

Expiry date
Number of 

Rights

Number 
of Rights 

Excercisable 
at December 

31, 2011
Exercise 

Price

November 25, 2013 93,750 93,750 $0.80 

November 30, 2013 527,000 175,667 $2.00 

April 15, 2014 35,000 23,333 $1.50 

June 30, 2014 70,000  - $1.80 

November 30, 2014 35,000  - $1.75 

760,750 292,750

During the year, 47,000 SARs were exercised at a weighted average exercise 
price of $1.10.  In addition, 105,000 new SARs were granted to Directors 
at a weighted average exercise price of $1.78 while 35,000 SARs forfeited 
during 2011.

The liability related to the SARs program is adjusted quarterly based on the 
fair value of the SARs as estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  
As at December 31, 2011 the Company recorded a liability in the amount of 
$0.1 million and compensation expense of $0.1 million related to the SARs 
program was expensed during 2011 as well. 

Transactions with Related Parties 
Canlan’s controlling shareholder, Bartrac Investments Ltd., owns approxi-
mately 10.1 million shares of the Company, or 75% of the outstanding 
shares. Bartrac’s ownership position in TSX: ICE has remained unchanged 
since November 2004.

The Company did not record any related party transactions with Bartrac in 
2011 and 2010.  

The Company paid $128,000 (2010 - $109,000) in directors’ fees. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company is a Director, and 
a Director of the Company is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of a 
vendor from which the Company purchases services in the normal course 
of business.  Purchases from this vendor for the year ended December 31, 
2011 was $41,000 (2010 - $42,000).

Financial Instruments
The Company initially measures all its financial instruments at fair value. 
Subsequent measurement and treatment of any gain of loss is recorded as 
follows:

•	 Held for trading financial liabilities are measured at the fair value at 
the balance sheet date with any gain or loss recognized immediately 
in net income. The Company has entered into an interest-rate-swap 
agreement to fix the interest rate on a portion of its debt on ice rinks.  
The fair value of the instrument has been presented as a current 
liability on the balance sheet.  At December 31, 2011, the fair value 
was $0.1 million, compared to $0.2 million last year.  Changes in the 
fair value of the instrument are recognized in net earnings.  For the 
year ended December 31, 2011, an expense recovery of $0.1 million 
was recognized, compared to an expense recovery of $0.3 million in 
2010.

•	 Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of 
financial assets or liabilities are accounted for as part of the carrying 
cost at inception and are recognized over the term of assets or liabili-
ties using the effective interest method.

The Company does not have held to maturity investments at December 31, 
2011. The Company had no “other comprehensive income or loss” transac-
tions during the year ended December 31, 2011 and no opening or closing 
balances for accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. 
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International Financial Reporting 
Standards 
Changes to Accounting policies related to the IFRS conversion

From January 1, 2011, IFRS are effective for both our interim and annual fi-
nancial statements. The conversion is disclosed in Note 22 of our December 
31, 2011 consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
The accounting policies stated therein are based on IFRS and IFRS Inter-
pretations (IFRIC’s) that are applicable as at December 31, 2011.

The quantitative impact of the transition on our net earnings for the 
comparative twelve months ended December 31, 2010 was an increase 
of $187,000 in EBITDA and an increase in net earnings of $26,000.  This 
resulted mainly from a decrease to stock-based compensation expense 
combined with an increase in depreciation and deferred tax expense. In 
addition opening shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2010, was reduced by 
$4.1 million. Other reclassifications and changes in financial reporting on 
the transition are detailed in Note 22 of the December 31, 2011 consoli-
dated financial statements.
 
Other than the change of framework from previous Canadian GAAP (CGAAP) 
to IFRS, there have been no accounting policy changes implemented during 
the period.

Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to IFRS

Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements, provides detailed rec-
onciliations between the Company’s CGAAP and IFRS financial statements.  
The reconciliations have been prepared for the consolidated balance sheets 
as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010.  In addition, the reconcili-
ations have been prepared for the consolidated statements of earnings for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010.

In preparing our IFRS opening balance sheet at January 1, 2010, we ap-
plied the guidance under IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of IFRS.  An explana-
tion of how the transition from CGAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s 
opening financial position is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E)

(a) Measurement and Valuation

Under CGAAP, PP&E is recorded at historical cost net of accumulated 
depreciation, and revaluations are not permitted.  Under IFRS, the 
Company may choose between the cost model or the revaluation model.  
Under the cost model, assets are carried at historical cost net of 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  Under 
the revaluation model, assets are carried at the revalued amount being 
the fair value at the revaluation date less subsequent accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  The revaluations 
must be kept up to date and fair values must be reliably measured at 
each reporting date.

The Company has elected use the cost model for accounting for 
property, plant and equipment as this method is most appropriate given 
the nature of our operations.  

IAS 36 provides guidance on impairment testing of PP&E and investment 
properties.  Under this section, an asset is impaired if its carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is 
the greater of its fair value less costs to sell or its value-in-use.  The 
value-in-use equals the discounted future net cash flows from the 
continuing use of the asset.  The impairment loss equals the amount by 
which the carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. Under CGAAP, 
impairment is assessed, firstly, based on whether the carrying value 
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected in the future.

Upon transition, the Company tested each recreation facility for 
impairment accordingly. Where a property’s carrying amount under 
previous CGAAP was greater than its fair value or value in use under 
IFRS, an adjustment was made to write the carrying amount down at 
the transition date.  The revaluation adjustment made at January 1, 
2010 was $2.0 million.

(b) Classification

Under Canadian GAAP, the carrying amount of an ice rink property from 
which the Company holds for the purpose of earning rental income was 
classified as ice rink property, plant and equipment.  Under IFRS, such 
properties are classified as investment properties.  As a result, one rink 
property’s deemed cost of $4.5 million was reclassified from property, 
plant and equipment to investment property on the balance sheet.

(c) Component accounting and depreciation

Under IFRS, component accounting must be applied to property, 
plant and equipment.  The Company identified rink board systems and 
refrigeration equipment to be two components within property, plant 
and equipment that should be accounted for separately and depreciated 
separately from buildings.  Retrospective application of this accounting 
policy resulted in an increase to accumulated depreciation of $2.8 
million at January 1, 2010.

(d) Start-up costs

Under previous CGAAP, the Company capitalized certain costs related 
to the start-up of newly constructed rink properties and included these 
costs in property, plant and equipment.  Under IFRS, these costs should 
be expensed.  The resulting adjustment made to reduce property, plant, 
and equipment at January 1, 2010 was $ 0.2 million.
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Employee Benefits
Under IFRS, liabilities related to cash-settled share-based compensa-
tion are measured at fair value at the grant date and re-measured at each 
reporting date.  Under previous CGAAP, the Company measured the liability 
related to its Stock Appreciation Plan at intrinsic values.  As a result, an 
adjustment of $0.1 million was made to increase accrued liabilities at the 
transition date.

Deferred tax
The Canadian GAAP to IFRS adjustments related to the deemed cost, 
componentization and start-up costs of property, plant and equipment 
discussed above result in an increase to the temporary differences between 
accounting and tax values of fixed assets.  This ultimately resulted in an 
increase to deferred tax assets and a decrease to deferred tax liabilities 
at January 1, 2010.  On a net basis, deferred tax assets increased by $1.3 
million.

Shareholders’ Equity
The net effect of all of the above adjustments was charged to retained 
earnings (deficit), which reduces shareholders’ equity on the opening bal-
ance sheet.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The conversion to IFRS from previous GAAP impacts the way the Company 
presents its financial results and related disclosures.  With oversight from 
the Company’s Board of Directors, management has evaluated the impact of 
the conversion on its accounting and financial reporting systems and has 
updated the systems to enable the reporting of previous GAAP information 
related to its initial IFRS adoption and for future reporting periods.  The 
Company’s internal control processes have not required significant change 
as a result of the transition to IFRS.

We have established and maintain disclosure controls and procedures de-
signed to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating 
to the Company is made known to the appropriate level of management in 
a timely manner.  

Based on current securities legislation in Canada, our Chief Executive Offi-
cer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) are required to certify that they 
have assessed the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 
as at December 31, 2011.

Our management has evaluated, under the supervision and with the partic-
ipation of our CEO and CFO, the design and effectiveness of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures as at the year ended December 31, 2011. 
Management has concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures, 
as defined in National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in 
Issuers Annual and Interim Filings (NI 52-109), are adequate and effective 
and that material information relating to the Company was made known 
to them and reported within the time periods specified under applicable 
securities legislation.

Our management, under the supervision of our CEO and CFO, has also de-
signed and evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls 
over financial reporting (ICFR)  using the Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework as published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO) Framework. Based on our evaluation, 
management has concluded that ICFR, as defined in NI 52-109 and using 
the COSO integrated framework are effective as of December 31, 2011.

Risk Factors
Canlan is engaged primarily in the operation of multi-pad ice rink facilities 
throughout North America, and is exposed to a number of risks and uncer-
tainties that can affect operating performance and profitability. Our past 
performance is no guarantee of our performance in future periods. 

Some of the risks and uncertainties we are exposed to, together with a 
description of management’s action to minimize our exposure, are sum-
marized below.

Leverage and Ability to Service Indebtedness

The Company’s level of debt and the limitations imposed on it by its debt 
agreements could have important consequences, including the following:
•	 The Company will have to use a significant portion of its cash flow 

from operations for debt service, rather than for operations.
•	 The Company may not be able to obtain additional debt financing 

for future working capital, capital expenditures or other corporate 
purposes.

•	 The Company could be more vulnerable to economic downturns and 
less able to take advantage of significant business opportunities or to 
react to changes in market or industry conditions.

•	 The Company’s less leveraged competitors could have a competitive 
advantage.

The Company’s ability to pay the principal and interest on debt obliga-
tions will depend on its future performance. To a significant extent, our 
performance will be subject to general economic, financial and competi-
tive factors.  We can provide no assurances that its business will generate 
cash flow from operations sufficient to pay the Company’s indebtedness, 
fund other liquidity needs or permit the Company to refinance its indebt-
edness.  The Company can provide no assurances that it can secure any 
further credit facilities or that the terms of any such credit facilities will 
be favourable.

If the Company has difficulty servicing its debt, the Company may be 
forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, seek additional financ-
ing, sell assets, restructure or refinance the Compay’s debt, or seek equity 
capital.  The Company might not be able to implement any of these strate-
gies on satisfactory terms, if at all.  The Company’s inability to generate 
sufficient cash flow or refinance its indebtedness would have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations 
and ability to satisfy the Company’s obligations.



Management Discussion & Analysis

31Canlan Ice Sports Corp. 2011 Annual Report

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company manages its capital with the objectives of maintaining 

a financial position suitable for servicing debt in accordance with 
repayment schedules, complying with debt covenants, and supporting 
our growth strategies.

•	 The Company maintains good relationships with its lenders through 
regular communications and reporting.

Incurrence of Debt and the Granting of Security Interests

From time to time, the Company may enter into transactions and these 
transactions may be financed partially or wholly with short or long term 
debt, which may increase the Company’s debt levels above industry stan-
dards and may require the Company to grant security interests in favour of 
third parties.  Neither the Company’s articles nor notice of articles limit 
the amount of indebtedness that the Company may incur or its ability to 
grant security interests.  Should the Company default on any of its obliga-
tions under any secured credit facility, this could result in seizure of the 
Company’s assets. The level of the Company’s indebtedness from time to 
time could impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future 
on a timely basis to take advantage of business opportunities that may 
arise.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company manages its capital with the objectives of maintaining 

a financial position suitable for servicing debt in accordance with 
repayment schedules, complying with debt covenants, and supporting 
our growth strategies.

Insurance

The Company develops and organizes hockey leagues to play at the facili-
ties it owns and operates. Due to the nature of the sport, injuries can 
occur.  We purchase liability and accident insurance, the cost of which 
is dependent upon the history of the number of injury claims and the 
quantum of such claims.  There is always a risk that the cost of acquiring 
sufficient insurance to cover any such injury claims will become prohibitive 
or that such insurance will become unavailable.  The Company has obtained 
insurance coverage that it believes would ordinarily be maintained by an 
operator of facilities similar to that of the Company.  The Company’s insur-
ance is subject to various limits and exclusions.  Damage or destruction to 
any of our facilities or lawsuits arising from use of such facilities could re-
sult in claims that are excluded by, or exceed the limits of, the Company’s 
insurance coverage.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 Company maintains its facilities to high standards and continually 

monitors league activities and enforces a strict set of rules.
•	 Company has developed risk management procedures and emergency 

preparedness guides at all of its locations.
•	 Management works closely with insurance providers.

U.S. Operations

The Company’s expansion strategies include certain markets in the U.S.  As 
such, the Company faces the risks of operating in new markets where the 
demographics, consumer preferences, and economic conditions can be very 
different from Canadian markets in which the Company primarily operates.    
Should market conditions of new U.S. locations vary significantly from 
what was anticipated, the Company’s financial results could be adversely 
affected.

In addition, The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales, pur-
chases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Company, the Canadian dollar. The currency in 
which these transactions are denominated is the U.S. dollar. The Company 
is exposed to the risk of loss depending on the relative movement of this 
currency against the Canadian dollar. The Company does not currently 
enter into forward contracts to mitigate this risk.  

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company performs due diligence to evaluate the structural condi-

tion of facilities, and conditions that support supply and demand in 
the marketplace.

•	 Management closely monitors the Canadian-US foreign exchange rate 
and could utilize hedging instruments if necessary.  In addition, a 
reasonable amount of US currency is maintained on hand to meet 
operating needs.

Seasonality of operations

The Company’s business cycle is highly seasonal with 56% of total revenues 
and virtually all of the operating profit being generated in the first and 
last quarter. This seasonality of operations impacts reported quarterly 
earnings. The operating result for any particular quarter is not necessar-
ily a good indicator of operating results for the other fiscal quarters or 
the entire fiscal year. As a result of the seasonality, the highest cash flow 
period for the Company is in the fourth quarter when customer deposits for 
future ice contracts are received, and the lowest cash flow is in the sum-
mer months, when traffic is reduced.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 Various programs are developed to increase traffic during the summer 

period.
•	 Variable operating costs are reduced during the summer period.
•	 Certain term debt and finance lease carry seasonal repayment     

schedules. 

Competition

The ice rink industry is highly competitive and Canlan competes with other 
private operators in its three major markets, B.C., Ontario and Quebec, as 
well as Municipal Governments that have different mandates and usually 
operate with significant losses. Other private operators may have more 
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resources and less debt than Canlan, and municipal operators can operate 
at a loss for an indefinite period without the same negative consequences 
such losses would have on private companies.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 Canlan has developed customer loyalty by providing superior customer 

service and facilities.
•	 The ice rink industry is capital intensive with high start up expenses; 

therefore barriers to enter the business exist.
•	 We have developed expertise in all aspects of ice rink development 

and operations.

Employee and Union Relations

The Company has unionized employees at four of its facilities.  The pres-
ence of a unionized work force increases the possibility that a labour 
dispute will effect operations at a facility.  The collective agreements 
with unionized employees at the three of the facilities will expire between 
October 2013 and February 2015.  Negotiations to renew the fourth col-
lective bargaining agreement are in progress. The Company may not be 
able to negotiate a new contract on favorable terms, which could result 
in increased operating costs as a result of higher wages or benefits paid 
to its unionized workers.  If unionized workers engage in a strike or other 
work stoppage, the Company could experience a significant disruption in 
its operations or higher ongoing labour costs, which could have material 
adverse effects on the business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company maintains positive relationships with the unions and 

management and union representatives have bargained in good faith.
•	 The Company garners assistance and guidance from professional 

labour consultants where needed.

Key Personnel

The Company’s future success depends, to a large extent, on the efforts 
and abilities of its executive officers.  As the Company’s ability to retain 
these executive officers is important to its success and growth, the loss 
of its executive officers could adversely affect the Company’s business, 
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company has established compensation policies for its executive 

officers that are commensurate with their responsibilities and with 
market conditions.

•	 The Company maintains an open and candid working environment 
where executive officers can offer input into business strategies and 
decisions.

Utility Costs

As electricity, natural gas and water are significant components of operat-
ing costs of our facilities, it is susceptible to fluctuations in the market 
price of energy.  If the Company experiences any power fluctuations or 
outages or cannot maintain adequate sources of natural gas and water, this 
may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
conditions, results of operations and cash flows.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company enters into medium-term energy contracts to mitigate 

the price fluctuations of gas and electricity.

Interest Rate Risk

Mortgage debt of $6.8 million, is subject to variable interest rates.  For ev-
ery 1% change in the prime rate, interest expense will change by $68,000 
per annum.

Mitigating factors and strategies:
•	 The Company has fixed the interest rate on 83% of its mortgage debt, 

which totals $34.3 million 

Control by Principal Shareholders

The principal shareholder, Bartrac Investments Ltd. holds 10,075,947 Com-
mon Shares and controls approximately 75% of the aggregate voting power 
of the Corporation, which will allow it to control substantially all the ac-
tions taken by the shareholders of the Company, including the election of 
the directors.  Such concentration of ownership could also have the effect 
of delaying, deterring, or preventing a change of control of the Com-
pany that might otherwise be beneficial to its shareholders and may also 
discourage acquisition bids for the Company and limit the amount certain 
investors may be willing to pay for the Common Shares.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Canlan’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires us to make judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of accounting poli-
cies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Revi-
sions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty are the areas where assumptions and 
estimates have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  These are:

Revenue recognition 
Revenue from ice rink operations is recognized as the product or service 
is supplied. Deferred revenue relates to amounts received in advance for 
the Company’s adult hockey leagues; revenue is recognized as games are 
played.  A certain amount of judgment is required in the determination of 
revenue recognition based on the Company’s estimates.  Any differences 
are recognized upon completion of the season.

Accounts receivable
In determining the valuation of accounts receivable and the allowance for 
doubtful accounts, the Company relies on current customer information, 
payment history, and trends.

Recoverability of long-lived assets
The recoverability of the Company’s recreational properties is based on 
future discounted cash flows expected to be generated from such assets.  
These cash flows are based on management’s approved budgets and projec-
tions.  When appropriate, third-party appraisals will also be used to assess 
the recoverability of recreational properties.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful life.  Approximately 80% of the Company’s total 
assets are comprised of recreational properties.  The selection method of 
depreciation and length of the depreciation period could have a material 
impact on depreciation expense and the net book value of the Company’s 
assets.  Assets may become obsolete or require replacement before the end 
of their estimated useful lives, in which case any remaining unamortized 
costs would be written off.

Accounting for stock-based compensation
The fair value of the Company’s stock appreciation rights (“SAR”) is based 
on certain estimates used in applying the Black-Scholes pricing model.  
The rights are cash-settled and are classified as a liability and re-measured 
to fair value at each reporting date by recognizing compensation cost over 
the life of the SAR based on the vesting terms of each tranche.

Deferred Income Tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated by assessing tem-
porary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and 
accounting purposes and net operating losses carried forward.  The valua-
tion of deferred tax assets are measured based on management’s estimates 
of future taxable income and expected timing of reversals of temporary 
differences.  

Michael F. Gellard
Senior VP and Chief Financial Officer
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To the Shareholders of Canlan Ice Sports Corp.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Canlan Ice Sports Corp., which comprise the consoli-
dated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and the consolidated 
statements of earnings and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2010, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonable-
ness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
 
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posi-
tion of Canlan Ice Sports Corp. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants

March 22, 2012
Vancouver, Canada

KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street

Vancouver BC 

V7Y 1K3

Canada

t · 604 · 691 · 3000

f · 604 · 691 · 3031

www.kpmg.com

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
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(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

  December 31, December 31,  January 1,  
 2011 2010  2010

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,886 $ 8,903 $ 9,213
Accounts receivable 1,717 1,519 1,845
Inventory (note 5) 1,121 1,041 1,024
Prepaid expenses 560 456 496
  17,284 11,919 12,578

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment - facilities (note 6) 84,303 84,600 86,429
Investment properties (note 7) 664 5,254 5,393
Deferred tax assets (note 15) 2,025 3,414 4,472
Other assets 464 439 345
  87,456 93,707 96,639

  $ 104,740 $ 105,626 $ 109,217

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8) $ 5,984 $ 5,644 $ 5,870
Deferred revenue and customer deposits 11,495 11,022 12,019
Financial liability held for trading (note 16) 114 227 568
Current portion of:

Obligations under finance leases (note 9) 443 533 534
Debt on ice rinks (note 10) 3,068 18,871 2,685

  21,104 36,297 21,676
Non-current liabilities:

Obligations under finance leases (note 9) 630 922 912
Debt on ice rinks (note 10) 37,831 25,151 43,910
Deferred tax liabilities (note 15) 543 667 663
  39,004 26,740 45,485

  60,108 63,037 67,161
Shareholders’ equity:

Share capital (note 11) 63,109 63,109 63,109
Contributed surplus 543 543 543
Deficit (19,020) (21,063) (21,596)
  44,632 42,589 42,056

  $ 104,740 $ 105,626 $ 109,217

Nature of operations (note 2)
Commitments and contingencies (note 14)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

“W. Grant Ballantyne” Director “Joey St-Aubin” Director

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
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(Expressed in thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

  2011 2010

Revenue:
Ice rink and recreational facilities (note 19) $ 71,966 $ 69,909

Expense (note 21):
Ice rink and recreational facilities:

Salaries, wages and benefits 26,621 25,899
Selling, customer service and other  10,704 10,548
Cost of goods sold 5,517 5,291
Utilities 7,171 6,846
Repairs and maintenance 3,555 3,095
Property tax 2,622 2,489
Facility lease 1,657 1,459
  57,847 55,627

Earnings from ice rink and recreational facilities 14,119 14,282

General and administration expenses (note 13 and 21) 4,271 4,564

Earnings before the undernoted 9,848 9,718

Other expenses (income) (note 21):
Depreciation 5,150 4,986
Gain on sale of assets (notes 6 and 7) (2,578) (35)
Impairment of investment property (note 7) 192 
Other 104 (43)
  2,868 4,908

Finance income (costs):
Finance income 154 341
Finance costs (3,021) (3,356)
  (2,867) (3,015)

Earnings before income taxes 4,113 1,795

Deferred income tax expense (note 15) 1,269 1,062

Net earnings and comprehensive income $ 2,844 $ 733

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share $ 0.21 $ 0.05

Weighted average common shares issued for basic 
and diluted earnings per share calculations 13,337,448 13,337,448

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
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(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

  Share Contributed   
 capital surplus Deficit Total

Balance at January 1, 2010 $ 63,109 $ 543 $ (21,596) $ 42,056

Net earnings and comprehensive income - - 733 733
Dividends to common shareholders - - (200) (200)

Balance at December 31, 2010 63,109 543 (21,063) 42,589

Net earnings and comprehensive income - - 2,844 2,844
Dividends to common shareholders - - (801) (801)

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 63,109 $ 543  $ (19,020) $ 44,632

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

  2011 2010

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:
Net earnings $ 2,844 $ 733
Items not involving cash:

Depreciation 5,150 4,986
Gain on sale of assets (2,578) (35)
Impairment of investment property  192 -
Net finance costs 2,867 3,015
Deferred income taxes 1,269 1,062

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 20) 406 (1,142)
Interest paid (3,051) (3,233)
Interest received 41 64
  7,140 5,450

Financing:
Principal repayments of debt on ice rinks (5,735) (2,669)
Increase in principal of debt on ice rinks 2,555 -
Principal repayments on obligations under finance leases (546) (639)
Payment of dividends on common shares (801) -
  (4,527) (3,308)

Investments:
Net proceeds on sale of assets 8,024 37
Purchase of ice rink property (4,043) -
Expenditures on ice rink and recreational facilities (1,453) (2,249)
Expenditures on other assets (176) (214)
  2,352 (2,426)

Effect of changes in foreign currency rates on cash and 
cash equivalents 18 (26)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,983 (310)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,903 9,213

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 13,886 $ 8,903 

Supplemental cash flow information (note 20).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

1. Reporting entity:

Canlan Ice Sports Corp. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
as the “Company”) focus on the development, lease, acquisition and 
operation of multi-purpose recreation and entertainment facilities.  
Canlan Ice Sports Corp. is a company incorporated in Canada, whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange.  The Company 
is domiciled in Canada and its head office is located at 6501 Sprott 
Street, Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada.

2. Nature of operations:

The Company has long-term debt with principal payments coinciding 
with the Company’s seasonal business such that the Company expects 
that it will not require financing during the off peak hockey season.  In 
addition, the long-term debt agreements have maturity dates in 2014 
to 2018 to provide the Company with liquidity over a reasonable period 
of time.  The Company has a working capital deficiency of $3,820,000 as 
the Company finances a portion of its assets through customer deposits.

3. Basis of preparation:

(a) Statement of compliance:

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) incorporating Interpretations issued by 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRICs”).  

These are the Company’s first consolidated annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been 
applied. 

The disclosures concerning the transition from pre-changeover 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian 
GAAP”) (CP) to IFRS are included in the first-time adoption of 
IFRS note (note 22).  In preparing these consolidated financial 
statements, management has adjusted certain accounting methods 
formerly applied in the Canadian GAAP consolidated financial 
statements to comply with IFRS.  The comparative figures for 2010 
were restated to reflect these adjustments.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors on March 22, 2012.

(b) Basis of measurement:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the following items:
•	 Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; 

and 
•	 Liabilities for cash-settled stock-based payment arrange-

ments are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency:

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  All financial 
information presented in tables has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income, and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future 
periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are the areas where 
assumptions and estimates have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities.  These are:
•	 Accounts receivables - in determining the valuation of ac-

counts receivable and the allowance for doubtful accounts, 
the Company relies on current customer information, pay-
ment history, and trends.

•	 Accounting for stock-based compensation - the fair value of 
the Company’s stock appreciation rights (“SAR”) is based on 
certain estimates used in applying the Black-Scholes pricing 
model.  The rights are cash-settled and are classified as a 
liability and re-measured to fair value at each reporting date 
by recognizing compensation cost over the life of the SAR 
based on the vesting terms of each tranche.

•	 Revenue recognition - revenue from ice rink operations is 
recognized as the product or service is supplied. Deferred 
revenue relates to amounts received in advance for the 
Company’s adult hockey leagues; revenue is recognized as 
games are played.  A certain amount of judgment is required 
in the determination of revenue recognition based on the 
Company’s estimates.  Any differences are recognized upon 
completion of the season.

•	 Deferred income tax - deferred income tax assets and li-
abilities are calculated by assessing temporary differences 
resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and ac-
counting purposes and net operating losses carried forward.  
The valuation of deferred tax assets are measured based 
on management’s estimates of future taxable income and 
expected timing of reversals of temporary differences.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3. Basis of preparation (continued):

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued):

Critical judgments that have a higher degree of judgment and the 
most significant effect on the Company’s financial reporting, apart 
from those involving estimates (discussed above), include:
•	 Recoverability of property, plant, and equipment - the recover-

ability of the Company’s recreational properties is based on 
future discounted cash flows expected to be generated from 
such assets.  These cash flows are based on management’s 
approved budgets and projections.  When appropriate, third-
party appraisals will also be used to assess the recoverabil-
ity of recreational properties.

•	 Useful lives of property, plant, and equipment - property, 
plant, and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful life.  Approximately 80% 
of the Company’s total assets are comprised of recreational 
properties.  The selection method of depreciation and 
length of the depreciation period could have a material im-
pact on depreciation expense and the net book value of the 
Company’s assets.  Assets may become obsolete or require 
replacement before the end of their estimated useful lives, 
in which case any remaining unamortized costs would be 
written off.

4. Significant accounting policies:

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below.  These policies 
have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Subsidiaries:

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of the Company and the following wholly-owned subsidiaries:

•	 P.C. Development Inc.

•	 Les Quatre Glaces (1994) Inc.

•	 Canlan Ice Sports (USA) Corp.

•	 Canlan Management Services Ltd.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company.  The 
statements of financial position of the subsidiaries are in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences.  They are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases.  The accounting policies of subsid-
iaries are aligned with those adopted by the Company.

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation:

Intra-Company balances are eliminated in preparing the con-
solidated financial statements.  

(b) Inventory:

Inventory consists of hockey equipment, supplies and sportswear 
held for sale, and food and beverage supplies.  Inventory is 
recorded at the lower of cost and estimated net realizable value.  
The cost of inventory is based on the first-in first-out principle.  
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated selling expenses.

(c) Property, plant, and equipment:

(i) Recognition and measurement:

Items of property, plant, and equipment are measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-
ment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that are directly at-
tributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct 
labour, costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a 
working condition for their intended use, and borrowing costs 
on qualifying assets.

When parts of an item of property, plant, and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant, and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment, and are recognized within gain on sale of assets.

(ii) Subsequent costs:

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Company, and its 
cost can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognized.  The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in 
net earnings as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation:

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which 
is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, 
less its residual value.  Depreciation is recognized in net earn-
ings on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
each component of property, plant and equipment, since this 
most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of 
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and 
their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Com-
pany will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.



41Canlan Ice Sports Corp. 2011 Annual Report

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

Asset 

Buildings  40 years

Board systems 25 years

Refrigeration equipment 20 years

Building improvements 10 years

Machinery and equipment 10 years

Computers, furniture and fixtures  5 years

Ice resurfacing equipment 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 
appropriate.

(d) Investment property:

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or 
for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary 
course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administrative purposes.  Investment property is 
carried at cost less depreciation.  Depreciation is recognized in 
net earnings on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each investment property.  The estimated useful lives for 
the current and comparative periods for investment property are 
consistent with the estimated useful lives for property, plant and 
equipment as described in note 4(c)(iii).

(e) Other assets: 

Included in other assets are fixed assets located in the Company’s 
corporate office. 

(f) Leased assets:

Leases where the Company assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.  Upon initial 
recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to 
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable 
to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not 
recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

(g) Lease payments:

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in net 
earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.  Minimum lease 

payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the 
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability.  
The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease 
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for in the period in 
which they are incurred.

(h) Revenue recognition:

(i) Ice and field time:

Revenue from ice contracts, programs and leagues is mea-
sured at the fair value of the consideration received or receiv-
able, net of returns.  Revenue is recognized as games and 
lessons are being played and collection is reasonably assured.

(ii) Goods sold:

Revenue from the sale of food and beverage and sports store 
goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration re-
ceived or receivable, net of returns.  Revenue is recognized 
when the goods are transferred to the buyer.

(iii) Sponsorship:

Revenue from sponsorship contracts is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the contract.  

(iv) Management contracts:

The Company’s financial results include the revenue and ex-
penses of facilities operated under management contracts 
where the Company’s return is subject to the risks and re-
wards of operation.  For facilities where this is not the case, 
the Company records only the revenue received in the form 
of fixed management fees.  Revenue from such management 
contracts is recognized over the term of the contract.

(v) Rental income:

Rental income is recognized in net earnings on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.

(i) Foreign currency:

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 
currency of the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rate at the reporting date.  Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized 
in net earnings.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

4. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(j) Financial Instruments:

(i) Non-derivative financial assets:

The Company has the following non-derivative financial as-
sets:  loans and receivables.  Such financial assets have fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.  Such assets are recognized initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.  

Loans and receivables comprise of cash and cash equivalents 
and accounts receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and depos-
its with financial institutions and other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less when acquired, that are readily convertible to known 
cash.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities:

The Company has the following non-derivative financial lia-
bilities: accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations 
under finance leases and debt on ice rinks.  Such financial li-
abilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recogni-
tion these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

(iii) Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative instruments are financial contracts whose value is 
derived from interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other 
financial or commodity indices.

On October 21, 2011, the Company entered into an interest 
rate swap contract used to manage the exposure to market 
risks from changing interest rates.  This instrument has not 
been designated as a hedge and is marked to market.  The 
resulting unrealized gains and losses during the period are re-
corded in net earnings with a corresponding asset or liability 
recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.  
Payments and receipts under the interest rate swap contract 
are recognized as adjustments to interest expense which are 
recognized within finance costs. On August 1, 2008, the Com-
pany entered into an interest rate swap with the similar pur-
pose, terms and conditions as the interest rate swap entered 
into on October 21, 2011.  The interest rate swap entered into 
on August 1, 2008 matured on September 30, 2011. 

(k) Earnings per share:

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) 
data for its common shares.  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 
net earnings attributable to common shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period.  Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the net 
earnings attributable to common shareholders and the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of 
all dilutive potential common shares, if any.

(l) Employee benefits:

(i) Defined contribution plans:

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obliga-
tion to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an em-
ployee benefit expense in net earnings in the period in which 
services are rendered by employees.  Contributions to a de-
fined contribution plan that are due more than twelve months 
after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
service are discounted to their present value.  On January 1, 
2010, the Company established a defined contribution plan 
for its employees whereby the Company matches contribu-
tions to a maximum of 4% of salaries.  Included in salaries, 
wages and benefits within ice rink and recreational facilities 
and general and administrative expenses is $303,000 (2010 - 
$323,000) in respect of the Company’s contributions.

(ii) Share-based:

The fair value of the amount payable to directors and employ-
ees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled 
in cash, is recognized as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees un-
conditionally become entitled to payment.  The liability is 
remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date.  
Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as 
compensation expense in net earnings.

(m) Finance income and finance costs:

Finance income comprises bank interest income and changes in the 
fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
net earnings.  Interest income is recognized in net earnings as it 
accrues. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and 
obligations under finance leases, bank charges and changes in the 
fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss.  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are recognized in net earnings using the effective interest method. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(n) Income tax:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current 
and deferred tax are recognized in net earnings except to 
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items 
recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  
Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable income, and differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to 
the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.  In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for 
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition 
of goodwill.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(o) Impairment:

(i) Financial assets:

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss 
is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is 
impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that 
the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future 
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can in-

clude default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an 
amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would 
not consider otherwise, or indications that a debtor or issuer 
will enter bankruptcy. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated fu-
ture cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  When a subsequent event causes the amount of 
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 
is reversed through net earnings.

(ii) Non-financial assets:

The carrying amounts of the Company’s property, plant, and 
equipment and investment properties, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing 
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit, or CGU).

The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate 
cash inflows.  If there is an indication that a corporate asset 
may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined 
for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.  An impair-
ment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or 
its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impair-
ment losses are recognized in net earnings.

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed 
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not ex-
ceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had 
been recognized.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(p) Segment reporting:

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s other components.  All 
operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Company’s management to make decisions about resources to 
be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.  Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment.

(q) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were issued 
but not yet effective:

(i) In 2009, the IASB issued the first part of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement.  This standard is 
anticipated to be effective for periods starting on or after January 1, 2015.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact 
of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

(ii) In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.  This new standard is effective for years beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted under certain circumstances.  The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

(iii) In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement which provides a single source of guidance on how to measure 
fair value where it is already required or permitted by another IFRS, enhancing disclosure requirements for information about 
fair value measurements.  This new standard is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

5. Inventory:

  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2011 2010 2010

Sports store $ 741 $ 570 $ 560
Food and beverage 380 471 464

  $ 1,121 $ 1,041 $ 1,024

The amount of inventories expensed during the year is presented in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive 
income. 
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6. Property, plant and equipment - facilities:

   Buildings   Machinery Computers, Ice
  and building  Rink board Refrigeration and furniture resurfacing

 Land improvements systems equipment equipment and fixtures equipment Total

Cost

Balance at  
January 1, 2010 $ 13,472 $ 88,762 $ 3,226 $ 8,000 $ 7,533 $ 5,948 $ 3,460 $ 130,401

Additions  - 522 - - 611 1,305 423 2,861
Balance at  

December 31, 2010  13,472 89,284 3,226 8,000 8,144 7,253 3,883 133,262 
Additions 1,001 2,416 280 501 540 651 275 5,664
Disposals (85) (1,158) (64) (84) (352) (298) (192)  (2,233)

Balance at  
December 31, 2011 $ 14,388 $ 90,542 $ 3,442 $ 8,417 $ 8,332 $ 7,606 $ 3,966 $ 136,693

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

Balance at  
January 1, 2010 $ - $ (27,307) $ (1,472) $ (4,428) $ (4,329) $ (4,041) $ (2,395) $ (43,972)

Depreciation for the year - (2,490) (129) (400) (530) (762) (379) (4,690)
Balance at  

December 31, 2010 - (29,797) (1,601) (4,828) (4,859) (4,803) (2,774) (48,662)
Depreciation for the year - (2,564) (133) (411) (497) (866) (385) (4,856)
Disposals - 440 41 68 211 219 149 1,128 

Balance at  
December 31, 2011 $ - $ (31,921) $ (1,693) $ (5,171) $ (5,145) $ (5,450) $ (3,010) $ (52,390)

Carrying amounts

Balance at  
January 1, 2010 $ 13,472 $ 61,455 $ 1,754 $ 3,572 $ 3,204 $ 1,907 $ 1,065 $ 86,429 

Balance at  
December 31, 2010 $ 13,472 $ 59,487 $ 1,625 $ 3,172 $ 3,285 $ 2,450 $ 1,109 $ 84,600 

Balance at  
December 31, 2011 $ 14,388 $ 58,621 $ 1,749 $ 3,246 $ 3,187 $ 2,156 $ 956 $ 84,303

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were nil impairment losses recognized.

On June 14, 2011, the Company completed the purchase of an ice-rink facility in Romeoville, Illinois.  The purchase price was $3,700,000 (USD$3,800,000) 
and the assets purchased have been recorded in the appropriate classes of property, plant and equipment - facilities.

On September 26, 2011, the Company completed the sale of an ice-rink facility in Regina, Saskatchewan.  The net gain on sale of this property was 
$2,300,000 and has been recorded in other income in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income.

Included in property, plant, and equipment - facilities are assets under finance leases with a cost of $2,564,000 (2010 - $2,916,000; January 1, 2010 
- $2,846,000) and accumulated depreciation of $1,119,000 (2010 - 1,048,000; January 1, 2010 - $863,000).
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7. Investment properties:

   Accumulated  
 Cost depreciation Total

January 1, 2010 $ 7,848 $ (2,455) $ 5,393
Depreciation - (139) (139)

December 31, 2010 7,848 (2,594) 5,254

Disposals (6,992) 2,723 (4,269)
Impairment (192) - (192)
Depreciation - (129) (129)

December 31, 2011 $ 664 $ - $ 664

The fair value of the Company’s investment properties at December 31, 2011 was $2,064,000 (2010 and January 1, 2010 - $6,807,000).  The fair 
value is measured using independent appraisals, local real estate agents not related to the Company and discounted cash flows.  The cash flows were 
discounted at a pre-tax rate of 6.5% over the lease term and based on anticipated renewal terms.  The appraisals were prepared by independent 
appraisers or real estate agents who have a recognized professional qualification and who have experience in the location and category of investment 
property being valued.

In 2011, income earned on investment properties was $410,000 (2010 - $421,000) with direct expenses of $200,000 (2010 - $217,000) incurred.

During the year, the Company has recognized an impairment of $192,000 for its one-half interest in an investment property located in the U.S.  The 
impairment in value is a result of current real estate market conditions.  The subject investment property is 7.46 acres of vacant land.  The fair market 
value of the land was measured by using comparable property listings in a similar location.

On December 21, 2011, the Company completed the sale of an investment property.  The net gain on sale of this property was $260,000 and has been 
recorded in other income in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income.

8. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following:

  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2011 2010 2010

Trade payables $ 1,886 $ 1,875 $ 1,694
Wages payables 1,696 1,457 1,628
Other accrued liabilities 1,782 1,730 1,533
Indirect tax payables 620 582 1,015

  $ 5,984 $ 5,644 $ 5,870

All current trade and accrued liabilities are interest-free and payable within 12 months. 
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9. Obligations under finance leases:

Total minimum lease payments are as follows:

  2011 2010

Not later than one year $ 529 $ 632
Later than one year and not later than five years 734 1,107
  1,263 1,739
Interest (rates vary from 4% to 8%) 190 284

Present value of minimum finance lease payments 1,073 1,455
Current portion 443 533

Long-term portion $ 630 $ 922

Lease obligations are secured directly by the leased assets.

Interest of $102,000 (2010 - $119,000) relating to finance lease obligations has been included in finance costs.

10. Debt on ice rinks:

    Maturity Interest  December 31, December 31, January 1,

  dates rates 2011 2010 2010

Fixed rate 2018 6.79% $ 25,500 $ 27,000 $ 28,500

Variable rate 2014 Prime + 1.25% 8,869 11,671 12,247
  2014 Prime + 1.25% 4,297 5,700 6,293
  2016 LIBOR + 2.50% 2,525 - -
    41,191 44,371 47,040

Deferred financing costs   292 349 445
    40,899 44,022 46,595

Current portion   3,068 18,871 2,685

Non-current portion   $ 37,831 $ 25,151 $ 43,910

As at December 31, 2011, debt on ice rinks consists of four credit facilities with three lending institutions as follows:
•	 $30,000,000 loan maturing on July 15, 2018, fixed interest at 6.79% per annum, payable monthly.  At December 31, 2011, the balance out-

standing was $25,500,000;
•	 $9,000,000 loan maturing on September 30, 2014, interest at Prime rate plus 1.25% payable monthly.  The Company has entered into an inter-

est rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on the total principal borrowed at a rate of 4.15% per annum, under an agreement expiring on 
September 30, 2014.  At December 31, 2011, the balance outstanding was $8,869,000.  This credit facility was scheduled to mature on Septem-
ber 30, 2011.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to renew this credit facility effective October 
1, 2011.  In connection with the original credit facility, the Company had entered into an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate 
on the total principal borrowed at a rate of 4.12% per annum, which also matured on September 30, 2011; 

•	 $5,381,000 loan maturing on September 30, 2014, interest at Prime rate plus 1.25% per annum, payable monthly.  At December 31, 2011, the 
balance outstanding was $4,297,000.  This credit facility was scheduled to mature on September 30, 2011.  During the year ended December 31, 
2011, the Company entered into an agreement to renew this credit facility effective October 1, 2011; and 

•	 $2,555,000 loan maturing on October 31, 2016, interest at LIBOR plus 2.5% per annum, payable monthly.  At December 31, 2011, the balance 
outstanding was $2,525,000.
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10. Debt on ice rinks (continued):

Amortization of deferred financing costs totaling $103,000 (2010 - $96,000) was recorded in finance costs.  Debt on ice rinks is secured by first 
mortgages, demand debentures, general security agreements, general assignments of book debts, assignments of rents and insurance, and specific 
pledging of title to, and interest in the respective land and buildings.

The Company has available, a $1,000,000 uncommitted operating line of credit that was unused at December 31, 2011.  Outstanding amounts would 
incur interest at the Prime rate plus 1.75%, and be secured by general security agreements.  The operating line of credit expires on September 30, 
2014.  In addition, the Company has available, a $5,000,000 committed revolving credit facility.  Outstanding amounts would incur interest at Prime 
rate plus 1.25%.  The revolving credit facility expires on September 30, 2014.  This credit facility was unused at December 31, 2011.

11. Share capital:

The common shares of the Company are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

 Number of shares Amount

(a) Authorized:

500,000,000 common shares of no par value

(b) Issued and outstanding:
December 31, 2010 and 2011, and January 1, 2010 13,337,448 $ 63,109

On November 10, 2011, the Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.015 per share which was paid on January 16, 2012.  In addition, the Company 
paid quarterly dividends of $0.015 per share on each of April 15, 2011, July 15, 2011, and October 14, 2011.

12. Stock-based compensation:

In 2005, the Company established a Stock Appreciation Rights plan (the SAR Plan) granted by the Company’s Board of Directors subject to terms and 
conditions of the Canlan Ice Sports Corp.  Director and Employee Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (2006).  The SAR Plan provides eligible directors and 
employees of the Company with the right to receive cash equal to the appreciation of the Company’s common shares subsequent to the date of grant.  
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The table below summarizes the change in the number of SAR:

  Number Weighted average
    of SAR exercise price

Number of SAR outstanding, January 1, 2010 755,250 $ 1.15
Granted 562,000 2.00
Exercised (579,500) 1.20
Forfeited - -

Number of SAR outstanding, December 31, 2010 737,750 1.77
Granted 105,000 1.78
Exercised  (47,000) 1.10
Forfeited (35,000) 2.00

Balance, December 31, 2011 760,750 $ 1.80

Exercisable, December 31, 2010 117,167 $ 0.99

Exercisable, December 31, 2011 292,750 $ 1.58

The following table summarizes information about the stock appreciation rights outstanding at December 31, 2011:

  Rights outstanding  Rights exercisable
   Weighted Weighted  Weighted

   average average  average
  Number remaining exercise Number exercise
Exercise price outstanding contractual life price exercisable price

$  0.80 93,750 23 months $ 0.80 93,750 $ 0.80
$  1.50 35,000 28 months $ 1.50 23,333 $ 1.50
$  2.00 527,000 23 months $ 2.00 175,667 $ 2.00
$  1.80 70,000 30 months $ 1.80 - $ 1.80
$  1.75 35,000 35 months $ 1.75 - $ 1.75

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recognized compensation expense of $85,000 (2010 - $193,000) in respect of the SAR Plan.  
This amount was calculated in accordance with the fair value method of accounting.  At December 31, 2011, the SAR liability included within accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities is $108,000 (2010 - $76,000; January 1, 2010 - $329,000).

The fair value of SAR was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: 

  2011 2010

Risk free interest rate 2.49% 3.16%
Expected dividend yield 3% -
Expected lives of rights 2.5 - 4.5 years 2.5 - 4.5 years
Expected volatility 31% - 47% 47% - 56%
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12. Stock-based compensation (continued):

Risk free interest rate is the Government of Canada long-term bond rate.  Expected dividend yield assumes a continuation of the most recent dividend 
payment for the quarterly dividends.  Expected lives of rights is based on historical experience of rights being exercised.  Expected volatility is based 
on the historical share price volatility over the past 2.5 - 4.5 years.

13. General and administration expenses:

General and administration expenses consist of the following: 

  2011 2010

Salaries, wages and benefits $ 3,023 $ 3,414
Professional and regulatory fees 553 387
Office 270 253
Travel 227 215
Other 198 295

  $ 4,271 $ 4,564

14. Commitments and contingencies:

(a) At December 31, 2011, the Company has lease agreements with third parties under the terms of which the Company leases and operates certain 
ice rink and recreational facilities.  During the lease terms, the Company assumes the financial risks and rewards of the facilities’ operations, but 
there will be no transfer of ownership.  Accordingly, the lease agreements have been accounted for as operating leases.  The total minimum lease 
payments are as follows:

Not later than one year   $ 1,797
Later than one year and not later than five years  6,597
Later than five years  21,268

The lease expenditure charged to net earnings during the year is presented as facility lease on the consolidated statement of earnings and 
comprehensive income.

Terms of facility operating leases are as follows: 

(i) Ice Sports Langley Twin Rinks is a two-pad facility in British Columbia with a lease term that ends on December 31, 2014.

(ii) Ice Sports Victoria Park is a two-pad facility in Ontario with a lease term that ends on January 31, 2020.

(iii) On August 1, 2006, the Company purchased an ice rink facility in Toronto, Ontario.  Upon purchase, the Company assumed a forty-nine 
year land lease agreement related to the land on which the facility is situated.  The land lease agreement is with a third party and ends on 
October 30, 2044.

(iv) Ice Sports Vineland is a two-pad facility in New Jersey with a lease term that ends on December 31, 2012.  At the conclusion of the lease, 
the Company will have the option to purchase the facility for USD$3,800,000.  The Company does not anticipate it will exercise this option.

(v) Ice Sports Fort Wayne is a three-pad facility in Indiana with a lease term that began on February 12, 2010 and will end on January 31, 2030.  
The lease gives the Company the option to purchase the facility from the lessor for USD$9,300,000 anytime during the first five years of the 
lease, and USD$9,800,000 during years six and seven.

(vi) On December 15, 2011, the Company entered into a lease agreement relating to a property in Mississauga, Ontario with a lease term that will 
begin on April 1, 2012 and end on October 15, 2023.
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(b) Due to the nature of the sports and recreation business, various lawsuits involving the Company are pending.  The financial impact of these 
lawsuits is not determinable, but management believes, based on legal counsels’ opinions, that the outcome will not materially affect the 
Company’s financial position.

(c) At December 31, 2011, the Company has letters of guarantee outstanding with various vendors in the amount of $555,000.

15. Income taxes:

(a) The major factors which caused variations from the Company’s expected combined federal and provincial income tax rate of 31% for 2011 (2010 
- 31%) were as follows:

  2011 2010

Statutory rate applied to earnings before income taxes $ 1,282 $ 563
Change in deferred tax assets not recognized 242 319
Substantively enacted tax rate change 161 126
Permanent differences (493) 5
Other 77 49

Deferred income tax expense $ 1,269 $ 1,062

(b)  The tax effects of timing differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented below.

  December 31, December 31, January 1,

  2011 2010 2010

Deferred tax assets:
Unused tax losses $ 70 $ 86 $ 54
Deferred revenue 1,153 2,387 3,112
Properties 768 872 1,124
Unrealized loss on financial instruments 34 69 182
  2,025 3,414 4,472

Deferred tax liability:
Properties (526) (667) (578)
Financing fees (17) - (85)
  (543) (667) (663)

Net deferred income tax assets $ 1,482 $ 2,747 $ 3,809

The following deferred tax assets have not been recognized at the December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

  2011 2010

U.S. tax losses set to expire between 2018 and 2031 $ 2,052 $ 1,483
Tax losses that do not expire 22 308
Deductible temporary differences 61 102

  $ 2,135 $ 1,893
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16. Financial instruments:

(a) Fair value:

The Company has the following financial instruments:  cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
obligations under finance leases, debt on ice rinks, and financial liability held for trading.  The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities and obligations under finance leases are considered by management to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

The fair values of debt on ice rinks included in the statement of financial position are as follows:

    December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010  January 1, 2010 

  Carrying  Carrying  Carrying 

   amount Fair value amount Fair value amount Fair value

Debt on ice rinks $ 40,899 $ 41,390 $ 44,022 $ 44,275 $ 46,595 $ 47,665

The Company has also entered into an interest-rate-swap agreement to fix the interest rate on a portion of its debt on ice rinks (note 10).  The 
fair value of the instrument has been presented as a current liability on the statement of financial position.  At December 31, 2011, the fair value 
was $114,000 (2010 - $227,000; January 1, 2010 - $568,000).  Changes in the fair value of the instrument are recognized in net earnings.  For 
the year ended December 31, 2011, a gain of $113,000 (2010 - $341,000) was recognized.

Financial instruments measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized according to the basis of their measurement 
using a fair value hierarchy:  Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 - valuation technique 
using inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; or Level 3 - valuation 
technique using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.  The Company has one financial instrument 
measured at fair value, being its interest rate swap, which is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

(b) Financial risk management:

(i) Interest rate risk:

The terms of the Company’s outstanding debt are described in note 10.  As certain of the Company’s debt instruments bear interest at float-
ing rates and are not hedged by interest rate swaps, fluctuations in these rates will impact the cost of financing incurred in the future.  A 
change in the Canadian Prime rate by 1% will increase or decrease interest expense by approximately $68,000 (2010 - $57,000) per annum.

(ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk from the Company’s potential inability to meet its financial obligations.  The Company constantly monitors its cash 
flows and operations to ensure current and long-term obligations can be met.  The Company’s capital resources are comprised of cash and 
cash equivalents and cash flow from operating activities.  A portion of the cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2011 consists of 
customer deposits received in advance of the services being provided.

(iii) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises principally from the Company’s accounts receivable.  Effective monitoring of accounts receivable is a core control procedure of 
the Company and appropriate provisions are recorded for impaired accounts.  The Company does not face any material concentrations of 
credit risk.  The Company’s credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as it maintains its holdings with large highly rated financial 
institutions.
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(iv) Currency risk:

The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective 
functional currency of the Company, the Canadian dollar.  The currency in which these transactions primarily are denominated in is the U.S. 
dollar.  The Company is exposed to the risk of loss depending on the relative movement of this currency against the Canadian dollar.  The 
Company does not currently enter into forward contracts to mitigate this risk. 

17. Capital risk management:

The Company defines capital that it manages as the sum of cash and cash equivalents, long-term borrowings, and shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are:

(a) To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can provide services to its customers and continue to reduce debt;

(b) To comply with debt covenants; 

(c) To return excess cash to shareholders through payment of dividends; and

(d) To maintain a financial position suitable for supporting the Company’s growth strategies and provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Company executes a planning and budgeting process to determine the funds required to ensure the Company has appropriate liquidity to meets its 
operating and growth objectives.  The Company ensures that there are sufficient credit facilities to meet its current and future business requirements, 
taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents.  The Company complies with covenant 
criteria established by its lenders.  These include tangible net worth and debt coverage ratio measurements.  As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and 
January 1, 2010, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.  The Company is not subject to any statutory capital requirements, and has 
not made any changes with respect to its overall capital management strategy during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

18. Related party transactions:

(a) During the year, the Company expensed $127,800 (2010 - $109,000) in directors’ fees.

(b) The Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company is a Director, and a Director of the Company is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
a vendor from which the Company purchases services in the normal course of business.  Purchases from this vendor for the year ended December 
31, 2011 was $41,300 (2010 - $42,300).

(c) The Company’s majority shareholder is Bartrac Investments Ltd. (“Bartrac”).  Two of the Company’s Directors are also directors of Bartrac.  During 
the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no related party transactions between the Company and Bartrac.

(d) The Company’s key management personnel include the Directors of the Company, executive officers and certain members of the senior management 
group. Key management personnel compensation comprised the following:

  2011 2010

Short-term employee benefits $ 1,344 $ 1,432
Post employment benefits 48 62
Exercise of stock appreciation rights 17 300

  $ 1,409 $ 1,794

(e) Directors and executive officers participate in the Company’s stock appreciation rights program (note 12).  During the year ended December 31, 
2011, the Company recognized compensation expense of $85,000 (2010 - $193,000) in respect of the program.
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19. Segmented information:

The Company’s operations consist of full service ice rink and recreational facilities, primarily in Canada, which constitute a single operating segment.

(a) Ice rink and recreational facilities revenue:

  2011 2010

Ice sales $ 53,384 $ 51,343
Restaurant and lounge 11,604 11,797
Sports store 2,020 1,960
Management and consulting fees 226 286
Other 4,732 4,523

  $ 71,966 $ 69,909

There is no single customer who accounts for 10% or more of the Company’s revenue.

(b) Geographic: 

   2011    2010  

  Canada USA Total Canada USA Total

Revenue  $ 67,998 $ 3,968 $ 71,966 $ 67,368 $ 2,541 $ 69,909
Net earnings (loss) 

before tax  5,421  (1,308)  4,113  2,707  (912)  1,795
Non-current assets  82,637  4,819  87,456  92,678  1,029  93,707
Total assets  96,917  7,823  104,740  103,583  2,043  105,626

20. Supplemental cash flow information:

  2011 2010

(a) Net changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable $ (198) $ 326
Inventory (80) (17)
Prepaid expenses (104) 40
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 333 (520)
Deferred revenue and customer deposits 473 (997)
Effect of change in foreign currency (18) 26

  $ 406 $ (1,142)

(b) Non-cash transactions:
Finance lease obligations $ 164 $ 647
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21. Expenses by function:

The Company’s consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income presents expenses on a mixed basis. IFRS requires a Company to present 
expenses according to its nature or function.  The following information has been provided to disclose the Company’s expenses by function:

  2011 2010

Ice rink and recreational facilities expense $ 62,846 $ 60,492

General and administrative expenses $ 4,422 $ 4,685

Other expenses (income):
Gain on sale of assets  $ (2,578) $ (35)
Impairment on investment property 192 -
Other 104 (43)

  $ (2,282) $ (78)

The changes in the above table, as compared to the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income, relate to depreciation of $5,150,000 
(2010 - $4,986,000) being allocated from other expenses to ice rink and recreational facilities in the amount of $4,999,000 (2010 - $4,865,000) and 
to general and administrative expenses in the amount of $151,000 (2010 - $121,000).

22. First-time adoption of IFRS:

These are the Company’s first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. The significant accounting policies in note 
4 have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011, the comparative information 
for the year ended December 31, 2010, and the preparation of the opening IFRS statement of financial position on the date of transition to IFRS 
(“Transition Date”), January 1, 2010.

The guidance for first-time adoption of IFRS is set out in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS.  IFRS 1 requires that the standards are applied 
retrospectively at the Transition Date with all adjustment to assets and liabilities taken to retained earnings, unless certain exemptions are applied.  
The Company elected to take the IFRS 1 optional exemption to apply the requirements of IAS 23 Borrowing Costs prospectively from the Transition 
Date.

IFRS 1 also outlines specific guidelines where a first-time adopter must not apply the standards retrospectively.  The Company has complied with these 
mandatory exceptions from retrospective application.

In preparing the opening IFRS statement of financial position and comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company has 
adjusted amounts reported previously in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  An explanation of how the 
transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following 
tables and discussion. 
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22. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):

Reconciliation of net earnings and comprehensive income for year ended December 31, 2010:

   Effect of   
 Canadian transition   
 GAAP to IFRS Notes IFRS

Revenue:
Ice rink and recreational facilities $ 69,849 $ 60 i $ 69,909

Expenses:
Ice rink and recreational facilities:

Salaries, wages and benefits 25,837 62 f 25,899
Selling, customer service and other 10,548 -  10,548
Cost of goods sold 5,291 -  5,291
Utilities 6,846 -  6,846
Repairs and maintenance 3,095 -  3,095
Property tax 2,489 -  2,489
Facility lease 1,459 -  1,459
  55,565 62  55,627

Earnings from ice rink and recreational facilities 14,284 (2)  14,282

General and administration expenses 4,753 (189) e, f 4,564

Earnings before undernoted 9,531 187  9,718

Other expenses (income):
Depreciation 4,813 173 b - d 4,986
Interest 3,296 (3,296) i -
Gain on sale of assets (35) -  (35)
Other (43) -  (43)
Held-for-trading financial liabilities (341) 341 i -
  7,690 (2,782)  4,908

Finance income (costs):
Finance income - 341 i 341
Finance costs - (3,356) i (3,356)
  - (3,015)  (3,015)

Earnings before income taxes 1,841 (46)  1,795

Deferred income tax expense 1,134 (72) g 1,062

Net earnings and comprehensive income $ 707 $ 26  $ 733

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share $ 0.05   $ 0.05
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Reconciliation of statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010:

   Effect of   
 Canadian transition   
 GAAP to IFRS Notes IFRS

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,213 $ -  $ 9,213
Accounts receivable 1,845 -  1,845
Inventory 1,024 -  1,024
Prepaid expenses 496 -  496
Deferred tax assets 3,326 (3,326) g -
  15,904 (3,326)  12,578

Non-current assets:
Properties, plant and equipment - facilities 95,922 (9,493) a - d 86,429
Investment properties 856 4,537 a, d 5,393
Deferred tax assets 521 3,951 g 4,472
Other assets 345 -  345
  97,644 (1,005)  96,639

  $ 113,548 $ (4,331)  $ 109,217

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 5,360 $ 510 e, f $ 5,870
Deferred revenue and customer deposits 12,019 -  12,019
Financial liability held for trading  568 -  568
Current portion of:

Obligations under finance leases 534 -  534
Debt on ice rinks 2,685 -  2,685

  21,166 510  21,676

Non-current liabilities:
Obligations under finance leases 912 -  912
Debt on ice rinks 43,910 -  43,910
Deferred tax liabilities 1,387 (724) g 663
  46,209 (724)  45,485

Total liabilities 67,375 (214) 67,161

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital  63,109 -  63,109
Contributed surplus 543 -  543
Deficit (17,479) (4,117)  (21,596)
  46,173 (4,117)  42,056

  $ 113,548 $ (4,331)  $ 109,217
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22. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):

Reconciliation of statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010:

   Effect of   
 Canadian transition   
 GAAP to IFRS Notes IFRS

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,903 $ -  $ 8,903
Accounts receivable 1,519 -  1,519
Inventory 1,041 -  1,041
Prepaid expenses 456 -  456
Deferred tax assets 2,585 (2,585) g -
  14,504 (2,585)  11,919

Non-current assets:
Properties, plant and equipment - facilities 94,128 (9,528) a - d 84,600
Investment properties 856 4,398 a, d 5,254
Deferred tax assets 586 2,828 g 3,414
Other assets 439 -  439
  96,009 (2,302)  93,707

  $ 110,513 $ (4,887)  $ 105,626

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 5,262 $ 382 e, f $  5,644
Deferred revenue and customer deposits 11,022 -  11,022
Financial liability held for trading  227 -  227
Current portion of:

Obligations under finance leases 533 -  533
Debt on ice rinks 2,737 16,134 h 18,871

  19,781 16,516  36,297

Non-current liabilities:
Obligations under finance leases 922 -   922
Debt on ice rinks 41,285 (16,134) h  25,151
Deferred tax liabilities 1,845 (1,178) g  667
  44,052 (17,312)  26,740

Total liabilities 63,833 (796)  63,037

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital  63,109 -  63,109
Contributed surplus 543 -  543
Deficit (16,972) (4,091)  (21,063)
  46,680 (4,091)  42,589

  $ 110,513 $ (4,887)  $ 105,626
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Statement of cash flows:

The adoption of IFRS had no impact on the net cash flows of the Company.  The changes made to the presentation of the statement of cash flows as a 
result of the transition to IFRS have resulted in certain reclassifications; however, there have been no significant changes in the net cash flows from 
operating, financing or investing activities and accordingly, no reconciliations have been presented.

Notes to the IFRS reconciliations above:

(a) Reclassification of property plant and equipment:

Under Canadian GAAP, the carrying amount of an ice rink property from which the Company holds for the purpose of earning rental income was 
classified as ice rink property, plant and equipment.  Under IFRS, such properties are classified as investment properties and therefore, the 
carrying amount of these properties have been reclassified.

(b) Component accounting:

Under IFRS, component accounting has been applied to property, plant and equipment (note 4(c)(iii)).  The Company identified rink board 
systems and refrigeration equipment to be two components within property, plant, and equipment that should be accounted for separately and 
depreciated separately from buildings.  As a result, an adjustment to increase accumulated depreciation and depreciation expense has been made.

(c) Start up costs:

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company capitalized certain costs related to the start-up of newly constructed rink properties and included these costs 
in property, plant and equipment.  Under IFRS, these costs should have been expensed.  As a result, an adjustment has been recorded to decrease 
the carrying value of property plant, and equipment at January 1, 2010, and decrease depreciation expense.

(d) Impairment:

Canadian GAAP and IFRS have different measurement methodologies when testing property, plant and equipment and investment properties for 
impairment.  The recoverable amount for impairment analysis is based on discounted cash flows under IFRS, unlike Canadian GAAP, where the first 
step in the recoverable amount analysis was based on an undiscounted basis.

Under IFRSs, management determined that the carrying value of two ice rink properties were in excess of its associated recoverable amount 
(fair value less costs to sell).  Fair value less costs to sell for one of the properties (investment property) was determined by using a discounted 
cash flow approach that incorporated marketplace participant assumptions.  The cash flows were discounted at a pretax rate of 6.5 percent, and 
projected for 26 years using expected cash flows based on anticipated lease renewal terms.  Fair value less costs to sell for the other property 
(property, plant and equipment - facilities) was determined by an independent appraisal.  As a result, the Company recognized impairment losses 
of $1,952,000 at January 1, 2010 (December 31, 2010 - nil).  Additionally, the depreciation charge associated with the ice rink properties was 
reduced by $77,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

(e) Share-based compensation:

Under IFRS, liabilities related to cash-settled share-based compensation are measured at fair value at the grant date and re-measured at each 
reporting date.  Under Canadian GAAP, the Company measured the liability related to its SAR Plan at intrinsic values.  As a result of revaluing 
the SAR to fair value at each reporting date, an adjustment was recorded to increase the related liability as at January 1, 2010, and decrease the 
related liability and compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2010.

(f) Short-term employee benefits:

On transition to IFRS, accrued liabilities were increased to record certain short-term employee benefits related to the Company’s salaried 
employees.  As a result, accounts payable and accrued liabilities have increased as at January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2010, and accordingly, 
compensation expense was adjusted for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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22. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):

Notes to the IFRS reconciliations above (continued):

(g) Deferred tax:

The above adjustments resulted in changes to temporary differences between accounting and tax values of assets and liabilities.  As a result, 
adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities were made at each of the reporting periods presented in the reconciliations.  In addition, 
under Canadian GAAP, deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current as appropriate, whereas IFRS prescribes that all 
deferred tax is classified as non-current in the statement of financial position.  Therefore, a reclassification of deferred tax assets from current 
to non-current has been recorded.

(h) Classification of debt:

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had debt on ice rinks of $17,371,000 maturing within 12 months of the reporting date.  Subsequently, 
on March 22, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to refinance the debt on a long-term basis and accordingly, under Canadian GAAP 
$16,134,000 of this debt was classified as a non-current liability as the debt renewal agreement was completed prior to the issuance date of the 
consolidated financial statements.  Under IFRS classification of debt held at the end of the reporting period must reflect the terms and conditions 
that existed as at that date and therefore, the subsequent refinancing of the Company’s debt on a long-term basis cannot be considered.  As a 
result, $16,134,000 of this debt has been reclassified to current liabilities under IFRS as at December 31, 2010.

(i) Presentation of finance income and expense:

Under Canadian GAAP, interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents was presented as part of revenue and interest expense on debt and 
finance leases was presented as part of other expenses (income).  In addition, fair value changes associated with the Company’s held for trading 
financial liabilities was also included as part of other expenses (income).  Under IFRS, finance income and expense is presented separately in the 
statement of earnings and comprehensive income, and accordingly, certain presentational reclassifications were recorded on transition.
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(expressed in thousands except statistics) IFRS Previous GAAP

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Assets:

Property, plant and equipment - facilities  $84,303  $84,600  $95,922  $98,137  $99,046 

Other 18,412 17,612 13,779 12,011 9,131 

Deferred tax assets 2,025 3,414 3,847 4,566 1,380 

 $104,740  $105,626  $113,548  $114,714  $109,557 

Liabilities:

Ice rink mortgages  $40,899  $44,022  $46,595  $49,105  $50,264 

Preferred Shares  -    -    -   1,400 2,650 

Other 18,666 18,348 19,393 19,263 17,031 

Deferred tax liabilities 543 667 1,387 1,507  - 

 $60,108  $63,037  $67,375  $71,275  $69,945 

Shareholders' Equity:

Share capital  $63,109  $63,109  $63,109  $63,109  $63,109 

Contributed surplus  543  543  543  543  543 

Deficit (19,020) (21,063) (17,479) (20,213) (24,040)

 $44,632  $42,589  $46,173  $43,439  $39,612 

Statistics:

Debt to equity ratio 0.94:1 1.07:1 1.05:1 1.21:1 1.37:1

Share price range $1.60-2.23 $1.50-2.25 $1.00-1.50 $1.00-2.00 $1.20-2.70

Five Year Review
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Five Year Review

(expressed in thousands except per share data) IFRS Previous GAAP

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Revenue:

Ice rinks  $71,966  $69,909  $67,196  $64,669  $62,539 

Operating expenses:

Ice Rinks 57,847 55,627 52,142 49,768 48,856 

General and administrative 4,271 4,564 4,139 3,665 3,526 

62,118 60,191 56,281 53,433 52,382 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization 9,848 9,718 10,915 11,236 10,157 

Other expenses:

Depreciation 5,150 4,986 4,467 4,224 4,131 

Net finance cost 2,867 3,015 3,177 4,877 4,440 

Other (2,282) (78) (62) (14) 20 

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 1,269 1,062 599 (1,678) 760 

7,004 8,985 8,181 7,409 9,351 

Net earnings and comprehensive income  $2,844  $733  $2,734  $3,827  $806 

Basic & fully diluted earnings per common share: $0.21 $0.05 $0.20 $0.29 $0.06 

Issued and average shares outstanding at year end 
(000s)

 13,337  13,337  13,337  13,337  13,337 
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